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Chairman’s Message
The past five years of The RICE Company Ltd’s (TRCL) founding and growth have 

surpassed expectations.   

From a core team of under 10 persons at its inception in 2014, TRCL has expanded the 

team to include collective expertise that ranges from education, arts management and 

content creation to place management.

During this period of time, I have witnessed how our arts programmes have brought a 

positive impact on the lives of many young people, beyond cultivating creative interests 

and artistic abilities. Our programmes have helped develop confidence and resilience in 

the young, empowering them to pursue their own dreams.

TRCL has grown to include two other entities, Global Cultural Alliance Ltd and Millet 

Holdings Pte Ltd, organisations dedicated to seeking, developing and providing creative 

and professional opportunities for TRCL’s beneficiaries. 

Today, as we take one step further towards fulfilling our vision of making the arts 

accessible and inclusive to all, TRCL has developed an end-to-end roadmap for those who 

wish to be part of the arts and creative industries. This roadmap offers opportunities and 

platforms that range from arts training and capability development to opportunities for 

individuals to explore, enter and grow in careers in the arts, culture and creative sector. 

The achievements over the past five years would not have been realised without the 

generous assistance and encouragement of organisations from both the public and 

private sectors as well as many individuals who support our cause. On behalf of the Board 

of Directors and the management of TRCL, I wish to thank our supporters, sponsors and 

donors who have made our work for our beneficiaries possible.

We look forward to continuing our work in serving the community through arts and culture, 

primarily of the community of children and youths from underserved backgrounds. We 

are committed to delivering our programmes and initiatives to reach out to touch and 

uplift lives through the arts and through our comprehensive roadmap.

Jennie Chua

Chairman
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‘If We Hold On Together 2.0’ was a production in September that told the stories of the youths 

cared by the Ministry of Social and Family Development.  The show portrayed the youth’s 

acute struggles and their families’ conflicts to the audience and at the same time, showed 

how the arts can be therapeutic by being rooted in the idea that creative expression can foster 

healing and mental well-being. ‘Harvesting the Arts’ by The RICE Company Ltd (TRCL) has 

taken a fuller meaning.

However, making a difference is not a one-night production but a continued commitment and 

promise that we will be there regardless of circumstances. For this, at the inception of TRCL in 

2014, we worked hard to build a sustainable organization that not only develops but broadens 

its impact so as to achieve a singular vision of making the arts accessible and inclusive to 

all. We do this by building our end-to-end roadmap. TRCL is now part of The RICE Group of 

Companies that includes two subsidiaries Global Cultural Alliance Ltd and Millet Holdings Pte 

Ltd as well as Millet World Pte Ltd, a subsidiary of Millet Holdings Pte Ltd.

This year, we took a great leap by getting into the digital space. The launch of CAVE (Cave 

Automatic Virtual Environment) at The Little Arts Academy North Campus II and the roll out 

of the ‘Tech + Art’ curriculum brought on a convergence of the arts and technology where 

our children and youth beneficiaries can now expand their creative knowledge and harness 

technology to bring their artistic creations to a whole new level of experience. In this process, we hope to enable our young to gain a right 

mindset and the confidence to be part of a future-ready workforce that is constantly disrupted by the use of digital technology. It has been and 

will always be our aim to level the playing field by providing training that are both relevant and future-proof.  

 

Importantly, this desire will not be possible without the support of esteem partners like The Business Times who adopted The Budding Artists 

Fund in 2015 and the Fund was subsequently renamed as The Business Times Budding Artists Fund. CHIJ (Kellock) Primary School who co-

organized with us the 10th edition of Children for Children, an annual outing for underserved children on Children’s Day and new partners like 

the Landscape Industry Association of Singapore who readily came forward to support a new fund-raising initiative Charitrees that celebrated 

our community heroes and lighted up Marina Bay during Christmas.

Within the Group, our wholly owned subsidiary Global Cultural Alliance Ltd (GCA) serves as the platform for our beneficiaries to work with 

professionals in the arts and creative industry. GCA also works with TRCL as its lead curator to further its reach of Building Communities 

and Bridging Borders with the opening of its latest arts center, Temenggong 18/20. An exhibition ‘A Message From Outside’ that brought 

five inmates from Visual Arts Hub Changi Prison and nine elderly residents from United Medicare Centre, Queensway engaged in a shared 

art experience that culmuated to an exhibition in Temenggong 18/20. This reinforced the Group’s vision of making arts accessible to a wider 

audience and to the community. 

Further, to broaden TRCL’s impact, Millet World Pte Ltd (MW) was incorporated in 2017 as a place management company to activate places 

or spaces for the arts and creative communities. MW organized fireside chats like the series, ‘Celebrating Failures’, with the first speaker 

Robin Greatbatch  to share experiences in building sustainable enterprises. Cross-border exchanges to neighbouring cities in South East 

Asia were organised for this community to have a better grasp of the needs and opportunities in the region.  MW also worked with TRCL to 

conduct the Upstart Entrepreneurship program to sharpen the skills of the creative communities. With these activities, MW has built a firm 

understanding of the enterprise’s end of the arts and creative industry and is well-positioned to not only be an effective but a creative place 

maker in Singapore and across the region.

Lastly, the emboldening of this bold vision to build an end-to-end roadmap comes with its fair share of critics and distractors. However, having 

witnessed the benefits of a more robust arts eco-system, we will continue to remain steadfast in our belief, strengthen the governance and 

build confidence for those who have joined our community.

We remain grateful to these organizations both public and private, board members who have guided us over the years and special individuals 

who stood beside us in ensuring that ‘Harvesting the Arts’ remains. 

Colin Goh

Chief Executive Officer

CEO Review
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Vision

Enabling arts 
and creative 
opportunities 
for all

The RICE Company Limited (TRCL) was incorporated on 26 March 2014 as a registered charity with an Institution of a 

Public Character (IPC) status. It was founded with the aim to promote community development as a social enterprise 

that embodies the spirit of creation, innovation and entrepreneurship.

TRCL focuses on two portfolios — Arts & Community and Space & Community. The former operates two community 

funds called The Business Times Budding Artists Fund and the Sing50 Fund. The Funds reach out to empower our 

young through the arts and music. The latter manages five spaces that connect and enliven the community through 

arts and culture content.

TRCL has two subsidiaries — Global Cultural Alliance Limited and Millet Holdings Private Limited. Together as The 

RICE Group of Companies, the Group provides a whole spectrum of services from arts training for children and youth, 

creation of arts and cultural platforms, place management through creative content to impact investing in accelerating 

the arts and creative industry. This end-to-end ecosystem seeks to support the intent of any individual who is keen to 

be part of the arts, culture and creative industries.

About Us
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Mission

Harnessing 
the potential 

of the arts 
to empower 

lives



6

Core Values

Resourceful
Imaginative
Courage
Equal Opportunity

About Us
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About Us

Our Areas of Focus

Community Funds
We administer two community funds which serve to support 
our programmes for social and community development. 

Arts community fund 

The Business Times Budding Artists Fund

Provides children and youth from financially 

disadvantaged families with opportunities to develop their 

interest and potential in the arts.

Music community fund

Sing50 Fund

Celebrates Singapore’s music heritage by fostering the 

knowledge of and affection for Singapore music in our 

children and the community.

1 Arts & 
Community
We provide training, performing 
and development opportunities 
in the Arts for Children and Youth 
through our Community Funds.

Arts for Children and Youths
We offer opportunities for children and youth to receive 
arts training in five genres — Music, Dance, Theatre, 
Visual Arts and Tech+Art, regardless of their personal or 
financial circumstances.

Arts for children from ages six to 12

The Little Arts Academy

Nurtures young talents through the arts to develop their 

artistic potential, social and emotional competencies.

Arts for youths from ages 13 to 19

10 Square Youth

Cultivates talents and skills of youths for future potential 

employment in the arts and creative industries.



Arts & Creative Spaces
We manage five spaces in Singapore that embody the needs and aspirations of the people we serve — Children, 
Youth and the Community.

9

Our Areas of Focus

2 Space & 
Community
We are a placemaker of Arts 
& Creative Spaces for the 
community.

Arts Training Centre

The Little Arts Academy

North Campus I and II @ Northpoint City

10 Square

10 Square @ Orchard Central

—

Three arts training centres to nurture the artistic talents of 

the children and youth.

Arts, Culture & Creative Spaces

The Pavilion @ Far East Square
—

A co-working space and nexus for arts and creative 

entrepreneurs.

Temenggong 18/20
—

A space for cross-cultural exchange and arts in healing 

& wellness.
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Our Work —
Arts & Community

Initiated in 2004 and adopted by The Business Times in 2005, BT BAF 

originated from a conviction that no child with strong interest and 

potential in the arts should be denied the opportunity to develop his or 

her talents due to a lack of financial resources.  

The Fund reaches out to financially disadvantaged children and youth 

from six to 19 years old. Through nurturing the artistic talents of these 

children and youth, we also seek to build their values, character and 

self-esteem.

Since 2005, the Fund has reached out to more than 18,000 

underprivileged children and youth through a variety of programmes 

including structured arts training curriculum, arts camps, workshops 

and signature events.

BT BAF supports The Little Arts Academy for children from ages six 

to 12 and 10 Square Youth for young people from ages 13 to 19 where 

the beneficiaries receive fully sponsored arts training. The training 

provides opportunities for the beneficiaries to explore and nurture 

their interest and talents in music, dance, theatre, visual arts and 

technology. Over the years, the children and youth have grown in 

confidence and resilience through their journey in the arts.

Arts Community Fund

The Business Times 
Budding Artist Fund 
(BT BAF)
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Our Work — Ar ts & Community

With a belief that the arts can transform the outlook of a child’s life by 

developing confidence, social and emotional competencies, LAA was 

established to provide children with early exposure and opportunities 

to access the arts.

A key thrust of LAA is to enable children from marginalised families 

to be engaged in meaningful and educational activities outside 

academics, without having to be concerned over financial costs.  LAA 

has an annual cohort of 666 children beneficiaries.

Beneficiaries undergo a six-month introductory arts programme, Art 

of Play, geared towards the needs of young beginners. They explore 

and experiment with the five genres of arts and are led to put up a 

show-and-tell performance at the end of the programme.

Subsequently for the next 18 months, the beneficiaries focus on 

their specialised interests in a step-up Foundation programme, 

which encourages them to work towards a graded accreditation or 

competition platforms in the arts genre of their choice.

Arts Training for Children

The Little Arts 
Academy (LAA)

Did you know?

LAA was established as a permanent arts training space for BT BAF beneficiaries 
from ages six to 12 where they receive free arts training to nurture their interest and 
potential in the arts.

Prior to LAA, beneficiaries attended lessons on an ad-hoc basis at various venues. 
LAA’s first training centre opened at PoMo, Selegie Road in 2008 under the auspices 
of The Old Parliament House Limited (now known as The Arts House Limited).
In 2014, the management rights of BT BAF and its related arts training centres and 
programmes for children and youths were transferred to The RICE Company Limited.

Discovering Another Side to Kelly

Kelly Ho, 12, is shy and reserved. But she found a way of expressing herself through 
the arts. Since joining the arts training programme at The Little Arts Academy four 
years ago, Kelly has become more sociable and confident. With lessons in visual 
arts, she has produced artworks that are featured in several exhibitions. She has also 
auditioned to be part of Little Vox, a children vocal ensemble in January 2018 and 
has performed at various events.  Kelly is doing well in school and is on the executive 
committee of her school’s student prefectorial board.

We believe that all children and youth should have access to the 

arts to explore their creative and artistic abilities. Our programmes 

are conducted in a safe and conducive learning environment, which 

provides them with exposure and structured training across five 

genres of arts  – Music, Dance, Theatre, Visual Arts and Tech+Art.

Arts for Children and Youth

Nurturing A Child’s 
Budding Interest
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Arts Training for Youth 

10 Square Youth
10 Square Youth is a youth arts academy that caters to young people 

from ages 13 to 19. Its annual cohort of over 190 youth beneficiaries 

are trained to develop performance-oriented skills in Dance, Music, 

Theatre, Visual Arts and Tech+Art.

The youth beneficiaries go through an intensive two-year Arts 

Incubation Programme that prepares these budding artists to be 

confident performers with the ability to engage with the audience. 

Those who are intending to pursue a career in the arts are also guided 

to present themselves professionally as arts practitioners.

Did you know?

The youth curriculum was initiated in 2010 as a natural progression from the 
children’s programmes offered by LAA.  In order to cater to the needs of beneficiaries 
from the older age group, a youth arts training centre was built in 2014 and 10 Square 
Youth was formed. 10 Square Youth is located at 10 Square @ Orchard Central, a 
space designed as a catalyst for young people to ignite new creative ideas and inspire 
them to reach beyond their limits.

Dancing to Success

Dineaish Rajendran,14, discovered his love for dance and honed his skills in LAA 
and 10 Square Youth since 2013. He was part of Danzation, LAA’s Latin ballroom 
dance group and Sugar Rush, a dance crew supported by BNP Paribas. Through 
BT BAF, Dineash had the opportunity to compete and win awards in national dance 
competitions as well as perform in major events such as ChildAid Singapore and the 
Monaco Ball by The Prince Albert II Foundation of Monaco. His dedication and hard 
work have reaped him great rewards culminating in his acceptance and receiving of 
scholarship to study in SOTA. Dineaish’s mother has noticed the positive changes 
in her son, who has become more disciplined, confident and driven towards his 
endevours in school and life.

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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CAVE, which stands for Cave Automatic Virtual Environment, 

was launched with the opening of its new LAA North Campus II 

in Northpoint City in June 2018. CAVE creates a unique teaching-

learning environment for a full range of technologies such as virtual & 

augmented reality, holograms and 360-degree videos.

The launch of the CAVE also kicked off a new series of ‘Tech+Art’ 

modules for the children and youth beneficiaries to learn creative media 

technologies. These modules add value to their current arts-based 

training curriculum in music, dance, theatre and visual arts so that the 

beneficiaries can incorporate technology in their various arts genres.

Infusing Technology

CAVE and Tech+Art 
Programmes 

Engaging Technology with the Arts

Two children beneficiaries brought to live Hotel Jen Tanglin Singapore’s ang baos 
using digital technology.

Judy, 9, who had no prior knowledge of digital tools, learnt to illustrate digitally and 
drew the flowers using a programme on a tablet. Mackenzie, 14, used a video editing 
programme to create an augmented reality video with animated birds, flowers, text, 
music and even the sounds of chirping birds to usher in the season of Spring.

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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The training does not focus only on imparting artistic techniques and 

skills. Beneficiaries are encouraged to perform and produce work for 

productions or exhibitions so as to bring their creative and artistic 

talents outside of the classroom to engage and inspire an audience.

LAA and 10 Square Youth

Signature 
Productions 
and Performing 
Opportunities 

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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Every year, five major celebratory productions are produced by the 

children and youth beneficiaries. The children and youth from all arts 

genres work together to showcase their skills in visual arts, dance, 

song, drama, technology, props making and also stage management.  

Importantly, these anniversaries serve to remind them of their journey 

with the Fund and to celebrate their achievements and growth.

From Classroom to Stage — Anniversary 
Productions

BT BAF Anniversary Production - My Story

A collaborative effort by the children and youth beneficiaries for the BT BAF 
anniversary production. My Story featured stories about the challenges, rejections, 
failures and ultimately, successes that they have faced in their personal lives as well 
as in their learning journey of the arts.

10 Square Youth Anniversary Production - Lucky

Lucky is inspired by the life story of one of BT BAF’s long-time supporter, Mr Koh Chye 
Hock, who overcame personal adversities to become a successful lawyer. 10 Square 
Youth scripted and produced Lucky, staging the production to a full house audience 
on two nights.

LAA Anniversary Production- Ki

The children beneficiaries performed Ki, an adaptation from the classic children 
story, The Jungle Book. The jungle scene was one of several backdrops that was 
created using animation and digital art. This infusion of technology is a first time for a 
production by LAA, which celebrated its 10th anniversary.

Mini Monet Exhibition - Rhythmic Patterns

The annual Mini Monet exhibition featured the best works of our advanced visual arts 
students from LAA sponsored by UOB. Rhythmic Patterns was a unique perspective 
of the many hidden patterns that can be found in our surroundings. Several of these 
artworks were infused with augmented reality.

Reflect10ns Exhibition

Reflect10ns is an inaugural exhibition by the youth beneficiaries that explored the 
theme ‘Duality’. The works featured contrasting colours and a play on light and 
darkness, reflecting an unseen world where there is more than what meets the eye. 

Our Work — Ar ts & Community



16

Beneficiaries participate in public and community showcases to 

gain exposure and develop performing experiences. These real-life 

engagements with the community also provide valuable life skills for 

their growth and personal development, and at the same time, bring 

awareness to the Fund.

From Classroom to the Community — 
Public Engagement 

Cha-Ching

A partnership with Prudential Singapore saw the beneficiaries acting and dancing in a 
series of mini musical called Cha-Ching to promote financial literacy in the community.

PassionArts Pasir Ris Beach Art Festival

The beneficiaries joined hands with Mandai Park to participate in the PassionArts 
Pasir Ris Beach Art Festival.  A recycled art installation was created to educate about 
wildlife conservation efforts.

Flight to the Fantástico

Through live painting, the beneficiaries created a series of beautiful macaws as part 
of Paragon Shopping Centre’s Flight to the Fantástico event inspired by the vibrant 
multi-culture of Latin America.

More than Words

The beneficiaries performed at the More than Words book launch organised by the 
Tan Chin Tuan Foundation that sought to promote creative literacy.

Art Calendar

The beneficiaries compete to have their artworks featured in Citi Commercial Bank’s 
calendar which were distributed to their associates and clients.  This year featured 
artworks infused with augmented reality.

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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Dansa Mania

Dance crew Sugar Rush reached the finals of Singapore’s first reality dance 
competition, Dansa Mania, and was featured on national television.

Dance Competitions

Our leading dance crews, Sugar Rush and Stylo Mylo, comprising children and youth 
beneficiaries compete in national competitions.  These dance crews are supported by 
BNP Paribas.

DanceWorks! 2018

Stylo Mylo was awarded second runner up at the DanceWorks! 2018 competition held 
in conjunction with the Anti-Drug Abuse Campaign.

ChildAid Asia Concert

The beneficiaries participated in ChildAid Asia concert held in Kuala Lumpur.  
Overseas trips are invaluable in providing them with exposure to different cultures 
and forging new friendships in the region.

PlayTech+

A digital playscape held in the National Museum of Singapore called PlayTech+ 
was conceptualised and produced by the beneficiaries. Presented by HSBC, the 
playscape comprised three art installations that featured augmented reality, 
projection mapping and digital 3D illustrations.

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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Special Initiatives

Transformative Arts 
Programme

Alumni Initiatives — 
Giving back to the 
Community

Outreach

Community 
Engagement

A collaboration with HSBC, the Transformative Arts Programme 

focuses on reinforcing the rehabilitative journey of young persons at-

risk or in distress, through the arts.

Many beneficiaries who have graduated from LAA or 10 Square 

Youth return to help out with programmes supported by BT BAF as a 

way of giving back. These alumni contribute their time and efforts in 

supporting productions as well as mentoring the younger beneficiaries. 

They have even produced shows to raise money for BT BAF and at the 

same time, create awareness of current social issues that youth are 

facing in Singapore. 

Besides providing arts training and performing opportunities, 

TRCL also engages in community projects so as to instill a sense of 

belonging, inclusiveness and a spirit of giving back to the community 

in Singapore.

If We Hold on Together 2.0

Working in partnership with the Ministry of Social & Family Development, these youth 
beneficiaries completed their incubation programme and put up a production titled ‘If 
We Hold On Together’ that traced their personal stories and life challenges.

ChariTrees

Taking over the organizing of ChariTrees from Community Chest in 2018, TRCL 
refreshed the concept to celebrate Singapore’s community heroes.  ChariTrees 
honoured 9 community heroes and saw the light up of 30 trees including specially-
designed Art Trees from 9 November to 26 December.

Children for Children

2018 marked the 10th edition of the annual community event, Children for Children, 
which brought 1,000 underprivileged children to celebrate Children’s Day at Resorts 
World Sentosa with a musical production by CHIJ (Kellock) followed by visits to two 
attractions — The Maritime Experiential Museum and the S.E.A Aquarium.

Artworks for Healing

Artworks for Healing is an initiative to bring visual art installations to enliven public 
spaces that will also function to elicit healing and well-being through providing a 
calming and recuperative environment for the community.  The partnership with 
Sengkang General Hospital saw the creation of the ‘Rhythm of Nature’ art installation 
that fused 3 art practices — sculpture (wire), kinetic work and digital technology.

(ME)NTAL

An original dance-theatre production produced by the 10 Square Youth alumni aimed 
to raise awareness about the issues and challenges faced by youths with mental 
disorders.(ME)NTAL sought to empower and provide a voice to those who share 
similar experiences.

Our Work — Ar ts & Community
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Programme

Music Community Fund

The Sing50 Fund 

Our Work — Ar ts & Community

Launched on 17 January 2015, the Sing50 Fund is a private sector 

initiative supported by The Straits Times and The Business Times. 

The Fund’s mission is to preserve and celebrate Singapore’s music 

heritage by fostering the knowledge of and affection for Singapore 

music in our children and the community. Sing50 Fund provides music 

resources such as musical instruments to schools and organises 

music platforms to promote and popularise these songs.

Did you know?

The Sing50 Fund originates from the Sing50 mega concert in celebration of Singapore’s 50 years of music heritage. The 
concert was held on 7 August 2015 at the National Stadium with an audience of over 40,000 people. It brought together 
170 home-grown international and local talents, and featured songs from different genres, cultures and communities that 
were composed, performed or made popular by Singapore artists.  

Programmes initiated by the Fund include the Adopt-a-Piano programme (2015), Singapore Rhapsodies series (Jan 2016 
to present),  The ICON Series: Dick Lee Singapop! Concert (Aug 2016), Singapore Rhapsodies — The Concert (Aug 2016) 
and NEXT Showcase and Awards (Apr & Nov 2017).

Singapore Rhapsodies Series

Launched in January 2016, the Singapore Rhapsodies series invites students to perform 
original compositions or popular Singapore songs to promote the heritage and the 
development of Singapore music. A striking Red Steinway Concert Grand piano as a 
centerpiece has become synonymous with Singapore Rhapsodies.

Singapore Rhapsodies, presented by POSB/ DBS, has been held at the National Museum 
of Singapore since July 2017, and was previously held at the National Gallery Singapore.
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Arts Training Centres and Creative Spaces

Bringing arts 
and communities 
together

Our Work — 
Space & Community

One of the core expertise is the activation of spaces through place 

management where we engage the community and bring vibrancy 

to the precinct. TRCL currently has developed five arts and creative 

spaces that form part of the ecosystem to support individuals who 

want to be part of the arts, culture and creative industries.

Arts Training for Children and Youth 

The Little Arts 
Academy North 
Campuses I & II 
@ Northpoint City

10 Square 
@ Orchard Central

The Little Arts Academy (LAA) caters to the arts training of the BT 

BAF children beneficiaries to nurture their interest and potential in the 

arts. 10 Square serves as an arts incubation and training centre for 10 

Square Youth comprising BT BAF youth beneficiaries. 

These centres are also popular venues for activities by artists, not-for-

profit organisations and community groups including:

1 / Art Exhibitions, workshops and holiday camps by U 3rd Age, 

Pathlight School, Fei Yue Family Centre, Brain Tumour Society 

(Singapore), Alzheimer’s Disease Association, OH (Open House) and 

Honour SG

2 / Performing art workshops and programmes by Teng Ensemble, 

PERKAMUS, Singapore Men’s Chorus, Suzuki Guitar Singapore, 

STEAS, Kiwanis Club, GenerAsia, Zukraf and Livehouse
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Co-working Space and Creative Nexus

The Pavilion 
@ Far East Square

Conveniently located at Singapore’s Central Business District, The 

Pavilion is spread over two floors – its first level consists of a seminar, 

exhibition and performance space, and co-working spaces occupy 

the second level.  It is a space for the creative industries to work, 

collaborate and showcase their projects.  

The Pavilion is home to 24 creative entrepreneurs and at the same 

time, welcomes a wide range of music, dance and community events 

including:

1 / Children theatre productions Pinocchio: A Whale of a Tale and Jungle 

Adventure by local arts group Artbeatz 

2 / Dance events such as The Nastiest (Hip Hop) by Nasty Drills, Salsa 

Dance Party by JJ Salsa Rengue, World Lindy Hop Day by Lindy Hop SG 

and En Motion Dance Party by En Motion Dance School

3 / Music festivals and concerts such as Gentle Bones and MYRNE, 

Rockafall 2018 by SUTD, The Moffatts (Canada), Cosmos People 

(Taiwan) and Boy Pablo (Norway)

Our Work — Space & Community
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Cultural Exchange and Arts & Wellness

Temenggong 18/20
Opened in July 2018, Temenggong 18/20 is an arts centre located in 

two heritage black and white bungalows nestled amidst the rustic 

greenery of Mount Faber. Activities of Temenggong 18/20 focus 

towards supporting cross-cultural exchange between the arts and 

culture communities of Singapore and the region, and engaging 

marginalised groups and the general public through arts programmes 

that aim towards rejuvenation, healing and mental wellness. The 

programmes include:

1 / Cross-cultural programmes such as Art Apart exhibitions featuring 

artists from Singapore, Hong Kong, France and Myanmar; music 

showcases by Cordillera Chamber Singers (Philippines) and The 

JCCR Project (Singapore); and network sessions among young Asian 

artists of imagin.Asia 2018 concert and One Voice: The Best of ASEAN 

Performing Arts 2018 concert

2 / Arts & healing programmes such as A Message from Outside 

featuring works created by inmates from Changi Prison’s Visual Arts 

Hub and elderly from United MediCare Centre (Queensway) that aimed 

to bring to the fore narratives of forgotten communities

3 / Other programmes featured literary arts (Nomads and the World in a 

Cup of Tea by #BuySingLit) and heritage (A Black-and-White Voyage by 

The Singapore Heritage Festival)

Our Work — Space & Community
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Our Heartfelt Thanks

Corporate Donors $300,000 and above

Citi Singapore (ChildAid Concert 2018 fundraiser)

United Overseas Bank Ltd (ChildAid Concert 2018 fundraiser)

$100,000 to $299,999

Ng Kim Suan Foundation

Singapore Tote Board

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd

The Stephen Riady Foundation 

Tincel Ltd

$50,000 to $99,999

Certis

DBS Bank Ltd

ERA Realty Network Pte Ltd (Children for Children 2018 fundraiser)

Prudential Assurance Company Singapore Pte Ltd

$10,000 to $49,999

Arrowcrest Technologies Pte Ltd

BNP Paribas S.A.

Century Evergreen Pte Ltd

CWT Ltd

Hong Leong Foundation

I-Electric Pte Ltd

ING Bank N.V. Singapore Branch

Lee Foundation

Malayan Banking Berhad

Perennial (Singapore) Asset Management Pte Ltd

Individual Donors $10,000 and above 

Choo Yeow Ming

Christopher Cheng

Koo Wen Hsin

Ong Biauw Chi

Wong Wai Keong

Thank you to our top donors and fundraisers for donations received in 2018.

We regret that we are not able to list all donors and supporters in this page. Our sincere gratitude and appreciation to all 
who have supported The RICE Company Limited and The Business Times Budding Artists Fund in one way or another in 
enabling us to make the arts accessible and inclusive for all.
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Global Cultural 
Alliance Limited
Mission:

Bridging Borders ∙ Building Communities

Our Subsidiaries

Founded in 2014, Global Cultural Alliance Ltd (GCA) is a not-for-profit 

organisation which focuses on building communities and bridging 

borders. GCA is committed to developing an inclusive Singapore 

society through arts and culture programmes and positioning 

Singapore as a cultural hub for the exchange of ideas and shared 

experiences. Founded in 2014, GCA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

The RICE Company Ltd.

Activities Highlights

Building 
Communities

A Message from Outside

GCA collaborated with the Yellow Ribbon Project and United Medicare Centre, 
Queensway (UMCQ) on this exhibition that featured works by five inmate-artists from 
Visual Arts Hub of Changi Prison Complex and nine elderly residents from UMCQ. 
Facilitated by artist Sun Yu-Li, the participants conversed with each other using visual 
journals. The final artworks were later animated through Augmented Reality created 
by five other inmates. The final artworks were exhibited in Temenggong 18/20 and The 
Star Vista.

Legacy: The Musical Journey of Nona Asiah

GCA managed this documentation project comprising the production of a CD and 
video documentary highlighting the legacy of 2016 Cultural Medallion recipient for 
Music, Nona Asiah.  The CD features performances from Najip Ali, Hazrul Nizam, 
Rilla Melati, Syah Rizuan and the beneficiaries of The Business Times Budding Artists 
Fund. The CD, documentary and CD booklet documented her contributions to the 
Malay music and film industry.

Sunburst - Fundraising Concert

For a second consecutive year, GCA served as producer of this annual fundraising 
concert in aid of Muscular Dystrophy Association, Singapore (MDAS) and the School 
of The Arts Student Assistance Fund. The 90-minute concert featured inspirational 
performances inspired by personal stories of strength and resilience. The performers 
included wheelchair-bound Julie Chong and dance partner Andy Ang, hearing-
impaired pianist Dr Azariah Tan, and other collaborative performances by SOTA 
students and members/alumni of MDAS. The concert was organized by The Business 
Times and graced by Speaker of Parliament of Singapore, Mr Tan Chuan-Jin.
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Activities Highlights

Bridging Borders

imagin.Asia Concert

Curated and managed by GCA, the inaugural imagin.Asia concert was a platform 
which connected 60 young talents under 25 years old from China, Hong Kong, 
Indonesia, Japan, Laos, Malaysia, Nepal, Philippines, Thailand, Vietnam, and 
Singapore. The youths were chosen for championing social causes through the arts 
as a medium; or for sustaining artistic or cultural tradition. The concert was supported 
by the National Youth Council and The Arts Fund.

ONE VO1CE: The Best of ASEAN Performing Arts 2018

Produced by GCA, ONE VO1CE: The Best of ASEAN Performing Arts 2018 was a 
showcase of top music talents from across the 10 ASEAN countries. In conjunction 
with Singapore’s ASEAN Chairmanship, GCA, alongside music and creative director 
Philip Tan produced a 90-minute concert that showcased the rich and diverse 
cultural tapestry of Southeast Asia. Highlights included four collaborative acts that 
fused the musical traditions of the various countries of ASEAN. The concert was 
organised by the National Arts Council and supported by the Ministry of Culture, 
Community and Youth.
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Millet Holdings 
Private Limited
Mission:

Accelerating the Creatives

Our Subsidiar ies

Millet Holdings Private Limited (Millet Holdings) was incorporated in 

April 2016 as a wholly owned subsidiary of The RICE Company Limited 

(TRCL). Millet Holdings is the enterprise arm of TRCL that serves to 

generate revenue that will be channeled to ensure sustainability in 

funding efforts for the Group to continue its work in enabling arts and 

creative opportunities for all.

Millet Holdings has a wholly-owned subsidiary called Millet World 

Private Limited (Millet World).  Established in 2017, Millet World is a 

placemaking and space management company with a track record 

of building and activating communities in Singapore and across 

Asia. The company offers an integrated model of physical place 

management coupled with digital transformation via application of 

emergent technologies.
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Activities Highlights

Activating Spaces

Activities Highlights

Building Creative 
Communities

Our Subsidiar ies

Upstart Entrepreneurship Programme

The Upstart Entrepreneurship Programme was launched in early 2019. The 
9-month programme provided 40 budding entrepreneurs a firm foundation in 
business principles, supplemented by coaching sessions that culminated with a 
mentorship program.

Network of Nodes

Millet World activates spaces and serves as a nexus for creative and social 
entrepreneurs to expand their reach and advance their offerings. Millet World also 
transforms these spaces to enhance the value of their surrounding environments. 

Millet World has identified and created nodes across Singapore. These nodes are 
characterised by low capital expenditure with a potential to deliver high business 
impact for the community. Millet World aims to manage and operate 28 nodes by 
end 2019.

Millet Connects — Philippines

Millet Connects is a platform aimed at introducing Singapore-based entrepreneurs 
and SMEs the business opportunities in the Philippines. Millet Connects saw 
20 Singaporean business owners and professionals interacting with Filipino 
businesses via networking sessions and business seminars.
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Code of Governance 
Evaluation Checklist for the 
Year Ended 31 March 2019

Governance

S/No. Code guideline  Code ID  Compliance  Explanation
        (if Code guideline is not complied with)

         

BOARD GOVERNANCE

1  Induction and orientation are provided to incoming  1.1.2  Complied
  governing board members upon joining the Board.

2  Are there governing board members holding staff* appointments?    Yes   

3  Staff does not chair the Board and does not comprise  1.1.3  Complied
  more than one third of the Board.

4  There are written job descriptions for the staff’s executive functions  1.1.5  Complied
  and operational duties, which are distinct from the staff’s Board role.

5  The Treasurer of the charity (or any person holding an equivalent  1.1.7  Complied
  position in the charity, e.g. Finance Committee Chairman or a governing
  board member responsible for overseeing the finances of the charity)
  can only serve a maximum of 4 consecutive years. If the charity has not
  appointed any governing board member to oversee its finances, it will
  be presumed that the Chairman oversees the finances of the charity.

6  All governing board members must submit themselves for  1.1.8  Complied
  re-nomination and re-appointment, at least once every 3 years.

7  The Board conducts self evaluation to assess its performance and  1.1.12  Complied
  effectiveness once during its term or every 3 years, whichever is shorter.

8  Is there any governing board member who has served for more than    No
  10 consecutive years?

10  There are documented terms of reference for the Board and each of  1.2.1  Complied
  its committees.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

11  There are documented procedures for governing board members and  2.1  Complied
  staff to declare actual or potential conflicts of interest to the Board at the 
  earliest opportunity.

12  Governing board members do not vote or participate in decision making  2.4  Complied
  on matters where they have a conflict of interest.

STRATEGIC PLANNING

13  The Board periodically reviews and approves the strategic plan for the  3.2.2  Complied
  charity to ensure that the charity’s activities are in line with the 
  charity’s objectives.
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Governance

S/No. Code guideline  Code ID  Compliance  Explanation
        (if Code guideline is not complied with)

         

HUMAN RESOURCE AND VOLUNTEER* MANAGEMENT

14  The Board approves documented human resource policies for staff.  5.1  Complied

15  There is a documented Code of Conduct for governing board members,  5.3  Complied
  staff and volunteers (where applicable) which is approved by the Board.

16  There are processes for regular supervision, appraisal and professional  5.5  Complied
  development of staff.

17  Are there volunteers serving in the charity?    No

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

19  There is a documented policy to seek the Board’s approval for any loans,  6.1.1  Complied
  donations, grants or financial assistance provided by the charity which are 
  not part of the charity’s core charitable programmes.

20  The Board ensures that internal controls for financial matters in key areas  6.1.2  Complied
  are in place with documented procedures.

21  The Board ensures that reviews on the charity’s internal controls,   6.1.3  Complied
  processes, key programmes and events are regularly conducted.

22  The Board ensures that there is a process to identify, and regularly monitor  6.1.4  Complied  identified and
  and review the charity’s key risks.      reviewed internally,
        will get external
        consultants to conduct
        risk assessment
        exercise going forth.

23  The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s plans and regularly  6.2.1  Complied
  monitors the charity’s expenditure.

24  Does the charity invest its reserves (e.g. in fixed deposits)?    Yes

25  The charity has a documented investment policy approved by the Board.  6.4.3  Complied

FUNDRAISING PRACTICES

26  Did the charity receive cash donations (solicited or unsolicited) during the    Yes
  financial year?

27  All collections received (solicited or unsolicited) are properly accounted for  7.2.2  Complied
  and promptly deposited by the charity.

28  Did the charity receive donations in kind during the financial year?    Yes

29  All donations in kind received are properly recorded and accounted for by  7.2.3  Complied
  the charity.
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Governance

S/No. Code guideline  Code ID  Compliance  Explanation
        (if Code guideline is not complied with)

         

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

30  The charity discloses in its annual report — (a) the number of Board  8.2  Complied
  meetings in the financial year; and (b) the attendance of every governing
  board member at those meetings.

31  Are governing board members remunerated for their services to the Board?   No

34  Does the charity employ paid staff?    Yes

35  No staff is involved in setting his own remuneration.  2.2  Complied 

36  The charity discloses in its annual report — (a) the total annual  8.4  Complied 
  remuneration for each of its 3 highest paid staff who each has received 
  remuneration (including remuneration received from the charity’s 
  subsidiaries) exceeding $100,000 during the financial year; and (b) whether 
  any of the 3 highest paid staff also serves as a governing board member of 
  the charity. The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must 
  be presented in bands of $100,000. OR The charity discloses that none of its 
  paid staff receives more than $100,000 each in annual remuneration.

37  The charity discloses the number of paid staff who satisfies all of the  8.5  Complied
  following criteria: (a) the staff is a close member of the family* belonging 
  to the Executive Head* or a governing board member of the charity; (b)
  the staff has received remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial 
  year. The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must be 
  presented in bands of $100,000. OR The charity discloses that there is no
  paid staff, being a close member of the family* belonging to the Executive 
  Head* or a governing board member of the charity, who has received 
  remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial year.

PUBLIC IMAGE

38  The charity has a documented communication policy on the release of  9.2  Complied
  information about the charity and its activities across all media platforms.
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Attendance at 
Board Meetings

Governance

The RICE Company Ltd

(UEN#201408699H)

Incorporated 26 Mar 2014

Main Board Appointment since Designation Attendance in FY18
       

Jennie Chua 26-Mar-14 Chairman 4/4

Alvin Tay 26-Mar-14 Deputy Chairman 4/4

Lim Yeong Seng 1-May-15 Member / Chairman, Finance Committee 2/4

Kelvin Tan 1-May-15 Member / Chairman, Whistleblowing Committee 4/4

Pius Tan 1-Sep-17 Member, Audit Advisor 4/4

Wong Wei Kong 1-Sep-17 Member 3/4

Colin Goh 26-Mar-14 Ex-officio Member 4/4

Conflict of Interest 
Policy

Whistleblowing 
Policy

TRCL has a Conflict of Interest Policy where all members of the Board, 

Sub-Committees and staff, when acting on behalf of the TRCL, must 

ensure that the deliberations and decisions made are in the interest 

of TRCL, and the interest of TRCL is protected when entering into a 

transaction, contract or arrangement. All members and staff shall 

promptly and fully disclose, in accordance with the procedures laid 

down by TRCL, all interests (actual or potential) which could conflict 

with their duties and shall recuse from participating in any discussion 

and decision on the matter.

TRCL has a Whistleblowing Policy that provides Board members, Sub-

Committee members, staff, contractors, volunteers and beneficiaries 

with accessible channel to the Chairman of the Whistleblowing 

Committee for reporting suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest 

practices or other similar matters. All whistle-blower complaints will 

be reviewed by the Whistleblowing Committee immediately to ensure 

independent and thorough investigation and appropriate follow-up.
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 

-  1  - 

Directors’ statement 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 
The directors hereby present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of The RICE Company Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the “Group”) and the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of changes in accumulated funds of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 
2019. 
 
 
Opinion of the directors 
 
In the opinion of the directors, 
 
(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 

statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in accumulated funds of the 
Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and Company as at 31 March 2019 and the financial performance and changes in 
accumulated funds of the Group and the Company and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year ended on that date, and 

 
(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will 

be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 
Jennie Chua Kheng Yeng (Chairman) 
Lim Yeong Seng 
Tan Teck San Kelvin 
Tay Tuan Hearn Alvin 
Colin Goh 
Pius Tan 
Wong Wei Kong 
 
As the Company is limited by guarantee, the board of directors does not consider it necessary to 
report on the matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6) (f) and (g) of the Singapore Companies 
Act, Chapter 50. 
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 

-  1  - 

Directors’ statement 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 
The directors hereby present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of The RICE Company Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the “Group”) and the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of changes in accumulated funds of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 
2019. 
 
 
Opinion of the directors 
 
In the opinion of the directors, 
 
(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 

statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in accumulated funds of the 
Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and Company as at 31 March 2019 and the financial performance and changes in 
accumulated funds of the Group and the Company and cash flows of the Group for the 
financial year ended on that date, and 

 
(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will 

be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 
Jennie Chua Kheng Yeng (Chairman) 
Lim Yeong Seng 
Tan Teck San Kelvin 
Tay Tuan Hearn Alvin 
Colin Goh 
Pius Tan 
Wong Wei Kong 
 
As the Company is limited by guarantee, the board of directors does not consider it necessary to 
report on the matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6) (f) and (g) of the Singapore Companies 
Act, Chapter 50. 
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 

-  3  - 

Independent auditor’s report 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of The RICE Company Limited 
 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The RICE Company Limited (the "Company") and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 March 2019, the statements of comprehensive income and statements of changes 
in accumulated funds of the Group and the Company and the consolidated cash flow statement of 
the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet, statement 
of comprehensive income and statement of changes in accumulated funds of the Company are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act), the 
Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the Charities Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) 
so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at       
31 March 2019 and of the financial performance, changes in accumulated funds of the Group and 
the Company and the cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other information 
 
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises Directors’ 
statement set out on pages 1 and 2. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
in this regard. 
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 

-  4  - 

Independent auditor’s report 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
Independent auditor’s report to the members of The RICE Company Limited 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Charities Act and FRSs, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Charity’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Charity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Charity to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 

-  6  - 

Statement of financial position 
As at 31 March 2019 
 
 
 
 Note Group Company 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
Non-current assets      
Plant and equipment 4 2,606,456 3,486,023 2,603,970 3,484,326 
Investment in subsidiaries 5 – – 1 1 
Investment in joint venture 6 – – – – 
              2,606,456 3,486,023 2,603,971 3,484,327 
            
Current assets      
Trade and other receivables 7 356,932 498,708 1,252,992 1,299,578 
Prepaid operating expenses  83,525 111,494 80,961 96,138 
Cash and bank balances 8 7,452,307 8,441,193 7,110,583 8,288,403 
              7,892,764 9,051,395 8,444,536 9,684,119 
            
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables 9 1,099,648 727,576 680,476 676,417 
Grants received in advance  10 301,297 616,642 225,335 535,989 
Deferred capital grants 11 495,484 454,997 495,484 454,997 
Deferred lease  28,842 49,892 28,842 49,892 
Tax payable  612 – – – 
Unearned revenue   44,397 84,224 44,397 70,183 
              1,970,280 1,933,331 1,474,534 1,787,478 
            
Net current assets  5,922,484 7,118,064 6,970,002 7,896,641 
            
Non-current liabilities      
Deferred capital grants 11 1,345,204 1,588,405 1,345,204 1,588,405 
Deferred lease  135,139 128,752 135,139 128,752 
Provision for reinstatement 12 429,990 448,010 429,990 448,010 
              1,910,333 2,165,167 1,910,333 2,165,167 
            
Net assets  6,618,607 8,438,920 7,663,640 9,215,801 
            
Accumulated funds  5,890,592 8,436,910 7,663,640 9,215,801 
Non-controlling interests  728,015 2,010 – – 
      
Accumulated funds  6,618,607 8,438,920 7,663,640 9,215,801 

       
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial 
statements. 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
Group      
      

Income  
  

  
Donations 13 561,906 440,713 60,000 1,062,619 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,414,721 – 1,414,721 
Project/programme income  149,187 28,938 – 178,125 
Course fee income  – 18,292 – 18,292 
Venue hire income  301,456 437,079 – 738,535 
Management fee income  69,280 – – 69,280 
Other income 15 50,430 235,881 4,435 290,746 
            Total income  1,132,259 2,575,624 64,435 3,772,318 
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The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
Group      
      

Income  
  

  
Donations 13 561,906 440,713 60,000 1,062,619 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,414,721 – 1,414,721 
Project/programme income  149,187 28,938 – 178,125 
Course fee income  – 18,292 – 18,292 
Venue hire income  301,456 437,079 – 738,535 
Management fee income  69,280 – – 69,280 
Other income 15 50,430 235,881 4,435 290,746 
            Total income  1,132,259 2,575,624 64,435 3,772,318 
            
 
  

The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
Group      
      
Expenditure      
Depreciation of plant and equipment 4 140,324 611,449 20,320 772,093 
Curriculum expenses  – 184,809 – 184,809 
Lease expenses  267,196 385,565 – 652,761 
Staff and related expenses 16 2,109,464 851,200 – 2,960,664 
Property maintenance and utilities  98,916 200,555 – 299,471 
Fund raising event expenses  – 331,796 – 331,796 
Project/programme expenses  677,785 152,826 99,892 930,503 
Other operating expenditure 17 731,899 370,144 656,163 1,758,206 
Allocation of expenses  (1,056,111) 905,238 150,873 – 
Write off Loan to Joint Venture  51,000 – – 51,000 
            
Total expenditure  3,020,473 3,993,582 927,248 7,941,303 
            
Deficit before government grants  (1,888,214) (1,417,958) (862,813) (4,168,985) 
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 30,000 489,122 – 519,122 
Government grants 18 823,094 157,233 100,000 1,080,327 
            Deficit after government grants  (1,035,120)  (771,603)  (762,813)  (2,569,536)  
Income tax expense 19 (612) – – (612) 
            Deficit, net of tax  (1,035,732) (771,603) (762,813)  (2,570,148)  
      

      
Attributable to:      
Owners of the Company  (1,011,902) (771,603)  (762,813)  (2,546,318)  
Non-controlling interests  (23,830) – – (23,830)  
            Total comprehensive income for the financial year  (1,035,732)  (771,603) (762,813)  (2,570,148)  
      

 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
Group       
       
Income       
Donations 13 260,804 483,968 102,838 – 847,610 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,266,128 – – 1,266,128 
Project/programme income  171,944 39,095 25,701 – 236,740 
Course fee income  – 15,828 – – 15,828 
Venue hire income  248,135 447,730 – – 695,865 
Management fee income  367,810 – – – 367,810 
Other income 15 25,193 220,723 8,340 – 254,256 
              Total income  1,073,886 2,473,472 136,879 – 3,684,237 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
Group       
       
Income       
Donations 13 260,804 483,968 102,838 – 847,610 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,266,128 – – 1,266,128 
Project/programme income  171,944 39,095 25,701 – 236,740 
Course fee income  – 15,828 – – 15,828 
Venue hire income  248,135 447,730 – – 695,865 
Management fee income  367,810 – – – 367,810 
Other income 15 25,193 220,723 8,340 – 254,256 
              Total income  1,073,886 2,473,472 136,879 – 3,684,237 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
Group       
       
Expenditure       
Depreciation of plant and equipment 4 60,163 593,175 113,778 – 767,116 
Curriculum expenses  – 203,843 – – 203,843 
Lease expenses  190,388 451,204 – – 641,592 
Staff and related expenses 16 1,814,972 774,940 – – 2,589,912 
Property maintenance and utilities  46,756 172,413 – – 219,169 
Fund raising event expenses  – 275,873 – – 275,873 
Project/programme expenses  695,452 243,295 291,330 – 1,230,077 
Other operating expenditure 17 329,893 382,718 5,258 13,284 731,153 
Allocation of expenses  (1,080,158) 810,119 270,039 – – 
Share of loss of joint venture  3,400 – – – 3,400 
              
Total expenditure  2,060,866 3,907,580 680,405 13,284 6,662,135 
              
Deficit before government grants  (986,980) (1,434,108) (543,526) (13,284) (2,977,898) 
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 30,000 424,607 – – 454,607 
Government grants 18 390,647 900,505 119,287 – 1,410,439 
              Deficit after government grants  (566,333) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,112,852) 
Income tax expense 19 – – – – – 
              Deficit, net of tax  (566,333) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,112,852) 
       

       
Attributable to:       
Owners of the Company  (568,178) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,114,697) 
Non-controlling interests  1,845 – – – 1,845 
              Total comprehensive income for the financial year  (566,333) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,112,852) 
       

 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
Company      
      
Income      
Donations 13 560,425 440,713 60,000 1,061,138 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,414,721 – 1,414,721 
Project/programme income  6,634 28,938 – 35,572 
Course fee income  – 18,292 – 18,292 
Venue hire income  331,066 437,079 – 768,145 
Management fee income  366,416 – – 366,416 
Other income 15 45,925 243,081 4,435 293,441 
            Total income  1,310,466 2,582,824 64,435 3,957,725 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
      
Company      
      
Income      
Donations 13 560,425 440,713 60,000 1,061,138 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,414,721 – 1,414,721 
Project/programme income  6,634 28,938 – 35,572 
Course fee income  – 18,292 – 18,292 
Venue hire income  331,066 437,079 – 768,145 
Management fee income  366,416 – – 366,416 
Other income 15 45,925 243,081 4,435 293,441 
            Total income  1,310,466 2,582,824 64,435 3,957,725 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2019 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ 
Company      
      
Expenditure      
Depreciation of plant and equipment 4 137,846 611,449 20,320 769,615 
Curriculum expenses  – 186,969 – 186,969 
Lease expenses  267,195 385,565 – 652,760 
Staff and related expenses 16 1,546,457 851,200 – 2,397,657 
Property maintenance and utilities  98,916 200,555 – 299,471 
Fund raising event expenses  – 331,796 – 331,796 
Project/programme expenses  433,816 152,826 99,892 686,534 
Other operating expenditure 17 369,377 370,144 656,163 1,395,684 
Allocation of expenses  (1,056,111) 905,238 150,873 – 
            Total expenditure  1,797,496 3,995,742 927,248 6,720,486 
            
Deficit before government grants  (487,030) (1,412,918) (862,813) (2,762,761) 
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 30,000 489,122 – 519,122 
Government grants 18 434,245 157,233 100,000 691,478 
            Deficit after government grants  (22,785)  (766,563) (762,813) (1,552,161) 
Income tax expense 19 – – – – 
            Deficit, net of tax, representing total comprehensive 

income for the financial year  (22,785)  (766,563) (762,813) (1,552,161)  
      
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
       
Company       
       
Income       
Donations 13 150,472 483,968 102,838 – 737,278 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,266,128 – – 1,266,128 
Project/programme income  77,413 39,095 25,701 – 142,209 
Course fee income  – 15,828 – – 15,828 
Venue hire income  248,136 447,730 – – 695,866 
Management fee income  228,658 – – – 228,658 
Other income 15 13,796 220,723 8,340 – 242,859 
              Total income  718,475 2,473,472 136,879 – 3,328,826 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
       
Company       
       
Income       
Donations 13 150,472 483,968 102,838 – 737,278 
Fund raising event income 14 – 1,266,128 – – 1,266,128 
Project/programme income  77,413 39,095 25,701 – 142,209 
Course fee income  – 15,828 – – 15,828 
Venue hire income  248,136 447,730 – – 695,866 
Management fee income  228,658 – – – 228,658 
Other income 15 13,796 220,723 8,340 – 242,859 
              Total income  718,475 2,473,472 136,879 – 3,328,826 
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Statements of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

2018 Note General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
Company       
       
Expenditure       
Depreciation of plant and equipment 4 58,361 593,175 113,778 – 765,314 
Curriculum expenses  – 203,843 – – 203,843 
Lease expenses  190,388 451,204 – – 641,592 
Staff and related expenses 16 1,319,980 774,940 – – 2,094,920 
Property maintenance and utilities  46,757 172,413 – – 219,170 
Fund raising event expenses  – 275,873 – – 275,873 
Project/programme expenses  146,893 243,295 291,330 – 681,518 
Other operating expenditure 17 179,383 382,718 5,258 13,284 580,643 
Allocation of expenses  (1,080,158) 810,119 270,039 – – 
              Total expenditure  861,604 3,907,580 680,405 13,284 5,462,873 
              
Deficit before government grants  (143,129) (1,434,108) (543,526) (13,284) (2,134,047) 
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 30,000 424,607 – – 454,607 
Government grants 18 76,003 900,505 119,287 – 1,095,795 
              Deficit after government grants  (37,126) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (583,645) 
Income tax expense 19 – – – – – 
              Deficit, net of tax, representing total comprehensive 

income for the financial year  (37,126) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (583,645) 
       
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of changes in accumulated funds 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

 Attributable to owners of the Company 

  

2019 General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund 

 
 
 

Accumulated 
Funds 

 
 
 

Non-controlling 
interests 

 
 
 

Accumulated 
Funds 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Group        

        
At 1 April 2018 (66,942) 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 8,436,910 2,010 8,438,920 

Deficit for the financial year, representing 
total comprehensive income for the 
financial year (1,011,902) (771,603) (762,813) – (2,546,318)  (23,830) 

 
 
 

(2,570,148) 
Capital contribution by non-controlling 

interests – – – – – 749,835 
 

749,835 
        
        
At 31 March 2019 (1,078,844)  5,873,436 1,096,000 – 5,890,592 728,015 6,618,607 
        
        
        

2018        

        
At 1 April 2017 501,236 6,754,035 2,283,052 13,284 9,551,607 – 9,551,607 

(Deficit)/surplus for the financial year, 
representing total comprehensive income 
for the financial year (568,178) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,114,697) 1,845 

 
 
 

(1,112,852) 
Capital contribution by non-controlling 

interests – – – – – 165 165 
        
        At 31 March 2018 (66,942) 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 8,436,910 2,010 8,438,920 
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Statements of changes in accumulated funds 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

 Attributable to owners of the Company 

  

2019 General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund 

 
 
 

Accumulated 
Funds 

 
 
 

Non-controlling 
interests 

 
 
 

Accumulated 
Funds 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Group        

        
At 1 April 2018 (66,942) 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 8,436,910 2,010 8,438,920 

Deficit for the financial year, representing 
total comprehensive income for the 
financial year (1,011,902) (771,603) (762,813) – (2,546,318)  (23,830) 

 
 
 

(2,570,148) 
Capital contribution by non-controlling 

interests – – – – – 749,835 
 

749,835 
        
        
At 31 March 2019 (1,078,844)  5,873,436 1,096,000 – 5,890,592 728,015 6,618,607 
        
        
        

2018        

        
At 1 April 2017 501,236 6,754,035 2,283,052 13,284 9,551,607 – 9,551,607 

(Deficit)/surplus for the financial year, 
representing total comprehensive income 
for the financial year (568,178) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (1,114,697) 1,845 

 
 
 

(1,112,852) 
Capital contribution by non-controlling 

interests – – – – – 165 165 
        
        At 31 March 2018 (66,942) 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 8,436,910 2,010 8,438,920 
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Statements of changes in accumulated funds 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 

2019 General Fund 
Budding  

Artists Fund Sing50 Fund 

International 
Young Artists 

Exchange Fund Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Company      
      
At 1 April 2018 711,949 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 9,215,801 
Deficit for the financial year, representing total  
  comprehensive income for the financial year (22,785) (766,563) (762,813) – (1,552,161)  
            At 31 March 2019 689,164  5,878,476 1,096,000 – 7,663,640 
      
      
      
2018      
      
At 1 April 2017 749,075 6,754,035 2,283,052 13,284 9,799,446 
Deficit for the financial year, representing total  
  comprehensive income for the financial year (37,126) (108,996) (424,239) (13,284) (583,645) 
            At 31 March 2018 711,949 6,645,039 1,858,813 – 9,215,801 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   

Operating activities   
Deficit before government grants (4,168,985) (2,892,895) 
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation of plant and equipment 772,093 767,116 
Bad debts written off 4,610 1,690 
Plant and equipment written off 656,932 1,456 
Impairment loss on trade receivables 7,554 – 
Share of loss in joint venture – 3,400 
Write off loan to joint venture 51,000 – 
Interest income (48,543) (56,889) 
Deferred lease (income)/expenses (14,664) 70,554 

      Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (2,740,003)  (2,105,568) 
   Changes in working capital:   

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 78,613 (19,940) 
Decrease in prepaid operating expenses 27,969 171,561 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 132,052 (87,576) 
(Decrease)/increase in unearned revenue (39,827) 24,308 

      Cash flows used in operations (2,541,196)  (2,017,215) 
Interest income received 48,543 56,889 

      Net cash flow used in operating activities (2,492,653)  (1,960,326) 
      
Investing activities   

Purchase of plant and equipment (577,458) (361,446) 
Increase in fixed deposits 2,259,378 273,072 
Investment in joint venture – (3,400) 

      Net cash flow generated from/(used in) investing activities 1,681,920 (91,774) 
      
Financing activities   

Government grants received 1,081,390 1,620,152 
Capital contribution by non-controlling interests 749,835 165 
Loan to joint venture – (51,000) 
Loan from director of a subsidiary 250,000 – 

      Net cash flow generated from financing activities 2,081,225 1,569,317 
         
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,270,492 (482,783) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 2,618,072 3,100,855 
      Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 
 (Note 8) 3,888,564 2,618,072 
   

 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial 
statements. 
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1. Corporate information 
 
The Company was set up due to a Business Sales Agreement entered with Arts House Ltd 
to transfer the business under BAF (Budding Artists Fund) and IYAE (International Young 
Artists Exchange Fund) from AHL (Arts House Ltd) to the Company. The Company is 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore, limited by guarantee and does not have a share 
capital. 
 
The Company has been registered as a Charity, Registration No. 201408699H under the 
Charities Act, Chapter 37 of Singapore with effect from 26 March 2014. The registered office 
and principal place of business of the Company is located at 181 Orchard Road, #10-01 
Orchard Central, Singapore 238896 
 
The principal activities of the Company are: 
 
 To provide training and conduct activities in the arts or otherwise engage in social 

service for children and youths through the medium of dramatic arts, music and other 
art and creative activities; 

 
 To identify underperforming spaces or places, re-content it with creative initiatives; 
 
 To develop and manage creative space and programme for community use; 

 
 To provide arts management; 

 
 To support the development of artistic productions and activities reflecting the 

diverse culture and international backgrounds in Singapore; and 
 

 To build international linkages. 
 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in accumulated funds of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
("FRS"). 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed 
in the accounting policies below. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “$”). 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards 
which are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018. The 
adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or 
position of the Group and the Company. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flow 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   

Operating activities   
Deficit before government grants (4,168,985) (2,892,895) 
Adjustments for:   

Depreciation of plant and equipment 772,093 767,116 
Bad debts written off 4,610 1,690 
Plant and equipment written off 656,932 1,456 
Impairment loss on trade receivables 7,554 – 
Share of loss in joint venture – 3,400 
Write off loan to joint venture 51,000 – 
Interest income (48,543) (56,889) 
Deferred lease (income)/expenses (14,664) 70,554 

      Operating cash flows before changes in working capital (2,740,003)  (2,105,568) 
   Changes in working capital:   

Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 78,613 (19,940) 
Decrease in prepaid operating expenses 27,969 171,561 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 132,052 (87,576) 
(Decrease)/increase in unearned revenue (39,827) 24,308 

      Cash flows used in operations (2,541,196)  (2,017,215) 
Interest income received 48,543 56,889 

      Net cash flow used in operating activities (2,492,653)  (1,960,326) 
      
Investing activities   

Purchase of plant and equipment (577,458) (361,446) 
Increase in fixed deposits 2,259,378 273,072 
Investment in joint venture – (3,400) 

      Net cash flow generated from/(used in) investing activities 1,681,920 (91,774) 
      
Financing activities   

Government grants received 1,081,390 1,620,152 
Capital contribution by non-controlling interests 749,835 165 
Loan to joint venture – (51,000) 
Loan from director of a subsidiary 250,000 – 

      Net cash flow generated from financing activities 2,081,225 1,569,317 
         
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,270,492 (482,783) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 2,618,072 3,100,855 
      Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 
 (Note 8) 3,888,564 2,618,072 
   

 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of these financial 
statements. 
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1. Corporate information 
 
The Company was set up due to a Business Sales Agreement entered with Arts House Ltd 
to transfer the business under BAF (Budding Artists Fund) and IYAE (International Young 
Artists Exchange Fund) from AHL (Arts House Ltd) to the Company. The Company is 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore, limited by guarantee and does not have a share 
capital. 
 
The Company has been registered as a Charity, Registration No. 201408699H under the 
Charities Act, Chapter 37 of Singapore with effect from 26 March 2014. The registered office 
and principal place of business of the Company is located at 181 Orchard Road, #10-01 
Orchard Central, Singapore 238896 
 
The principal activities of the Company are: 
 
 To provide training and conduct activities in the arts or otherwise engage in social 

service for children and youths through the medium of dramatic arts, music and other 
art and creative activities; 

 
 To identify underperforming spaces or places, re-content it with creative initiatives; 
 
 To develop and manage creative space and programme for community use; 

 
 To provide arts management; 

 
 To support the development of artistic productions and activities reflecting the 

diverse culture and international backgrounds in Singapore; and 
 

 To build international linkages. 
 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 
 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in accumulated funds of the 
Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
("FRS"). 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed 
in the accounting policies below. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “$”). 
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards 
which are effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2018. The 
adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial performance or 
position of the Group and the Company. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

The nature and the impact of FRS 109 Financial Instruments and FRS 115 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers are described below: 

 
FRS 109 Financial Instruments 
 
On 1 April 2018, the Group adopted FRS 109 Financial Instruments, which is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The changes arising from the adoption 
of FRS 109 have been applied using a modified retrospective approach. The Group has not 
restated comparative information which continues to be reported under FRS 39 and the 
disclosure requirements of FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to items 
within the scope of FRS 39. 
 
Classification and measurement 

 
FRS 109 requires debt instruments to be measured either at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 
Classification of debt instruments depends on the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI). An entity’s business model is how an entity manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows and create value for the entity either from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. If a debt instrument is held 
to collect contractual cash flows, it is measured at amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI 
requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held both to collect 
the assets’ contractual cash flows and to sell the assets are measured at FVOCI. Financial 
assets are measured at FVPL if they do not meet the criteria of FVOCI or amortised cost.  

 
The assessment of the business model was made as of the date of initial application on 1 
April 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt instruments solely 
comprised principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances as at the 
initial recognition of the assets. 
 
The classification and measurement requirements of FRS 109 did not have a significant 
impact to the Group. Loans and receivables as at 31 March 2018 are held to collect 
contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal 
and interest. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost 
beginning 1 April 2018. 
 
There are no changes in classification and measurement for the Group’s financial liabilities. 

 
Impairment 

 
FRS 109 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group previously 
recorded impairment based on the incurred loss model when there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset is impaired. Given the limited exposure of the Group to credit risk, this 
amendment has no material impact on the financial statements. 

 
  



53

The RICE Company Limited and its subsidiaries 
 
Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019 
 
 
 

-  19  - 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

The nature and the impact of FRS 109 Financial Instruments and FRS 115 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers are described below: 

 
FRS 109 Financial Instruments 
 
On 1 April 2018, the Group adopted FRS 109 Financial Instruments, which is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The changes arising from the adoption 
of FRS 109 have been applied using a modified retrospective approach. The Group has not 
restated comparative information which continues to be reported under FRS 39 and the 
disclosure requirements of FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures relating to items 
within the scope of FRS 39. 
 
Classification and measurement 

 
FRS 109 requires debt instruments to be measured either at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 
Classification of debt instruments depends on the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (SPPI). An entity’s business model is how an entity manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows and create value for the entity either from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. If a debt instrument is held 
to collect contractual cash flows, it is measured at amortised cost if it also meets the SPPI 
requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held both to collect 
the assets’ contractual cash flows and to sell the assets are measured at FVOCI. Financial 
assets are measured at FVPL if they do not meet the criteria of FVOCI or amortised cost.  

 
The assessment of the business model was made as of the date of initial application on 1 
April 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt instruments solely 
comprised principal and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances as at the 
initial recognition of the assets. 
 
The classification and measurement requirements of FRS 109 did not have a significant 
impact to the Group. Loans and receivables as at 31 March 2018 are held to collect 
contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal 
and interest. These are classified and measured as debt instruments at amortised cost 
beginning 1 April 2018. 
 
There are no changes in classification and measurement for the Group’s financial liabilities. 

 
Impairment 

 
FRS 109 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group previously 
recorded impairment based on the incurred loss model when there is objective evidence that 
a financial asset is impaired. Given the limited exposure of the Group to credit risk, this 
amendment has no material impact on the financial statements. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
 
FRS 115 establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers, and introduces a new contract cost guidance. Under FRS 115, revenue is 
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration which an entity expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Group has applied the 
changes in accounting policies on a modified retrospective approach.  
 
The cumulative effect of initially applying FRS 115 is recognised at the date of initial 
application as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Therefore, the 
comparative information was not restated and continues to be reported under FRS 11, FRS 
18 and related interpretations. There is no material effect on the financial statements of the 
Group. 
 

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 
 
The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretation that have been issued 
but not yet effective: 
 

Description 

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 

on or after 
  
FRS 116: Leases 1 January 2019 
Improvements to FRSs (March 2018)  
-  Amendment to FRS 110 and FRS 28: Sales or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 1 January 2019 
-  Amendment to FRS 103 Business Combination 1 January 2019 
-  Amendment to FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2019 
-  Amendment to FRS 12 Income Taxes 1 January 2019 
-  Amendment to FRS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2019 
INT FRS123 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments Illustrative 
Examples 1 January 2019 
Amendments to FRS 109: Prepayment Features with Negative 

Compensation 1 January 2019 
 

Except for FRS 116, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards above will 
have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application. The 
nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 116 is described 
below. 
 
FRS 116 Leases 

 
FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets. The standard 
includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ‘low value’ assets and short-term 
leases. The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. At commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease 
payments (i.e. the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying 
asset during the lease term (i.e. the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately 
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the 
right-of-use asset. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
The Group plans to adopt FRS116 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening retained earnings at the date of initial 
application, 1 April 2019. 

 
On the adoption of FRS 116, the Group expects to choose, on a lease-by-lease basis, to 
measure the right-of-use asset at either:  

 
(i) its carrying amount as if FRS 116 had been applied since the commencement date, 

but discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019; or  
 

(ii) an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or 
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of 
financial position immediately before 1 April 2019.  

 
In addition, the Group plans to elect the following practical expedients:  

 
 not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial 

application and to apply FRS 116 to all contracts that were previously identified as 
leases  

 
 to apply the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and lease liabilities to 

leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months as of 1 April 2019  
 

 to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics  

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date. The Group expects the adoption of the new standard 
will result in increase in total assets and total liabilities, decrease in deficit before tax and 
gearing ratio. 
 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. 
 
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 
control ceases. 
 
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that 
results in a deficit balance. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies (continued) 
 
The Group plans to adopt FRS116 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially 
applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening retained earnings at the date of initial 
application, 1 April 2019. 

 
On the adoption of FRS 116, the Group expects to choose, on a lease-by-lease basis, to 
measure the right-of-use asset at either:  

 
(i) its carrying amount as if FRS 116 had been applied since the commencement date, 

but discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 April 2019; or  
 

(ii) an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or 
accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of 
financial position immediately before 1 April 2019.  

 
In addition, the Group plans to elect the following practical expedients:  

 
 not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of initial 

application and to apply FRS 116 to all contracts that were previously identified as 
leases  

 
 to apply the exemption not to recognise right-of-use asset and lease liabilities to 

leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months as of 1 April 2019  
 

 to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar 
characteristics  

 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt the new 
standard on the required effective date. The Group expects the adoption of the new standard 
will result in increase in total assets and total liabilities, decrease in deficit before tax and 
gearing ratio. 
 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. 
 
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses 
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 
control ceases. 
 
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that 
results in a deficit balance. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (continued) 
 
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, 
it: 
 
- Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at 

their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost; 
 
- Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; 
 
- Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 
 
- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 
 
- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 
 
- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; 
 
- Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 
 
(b) Business combinations 

 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs 
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the 
services are received. 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities 
assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at 
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be 
recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is 
not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 
 
In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the 
acquiree are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (continued) 
 
(b) Business combinations (continued) 

 
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is 
recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of 
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless 
another measurement basis is required by another FRS. 
 
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the 
business combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), 
and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if 
any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is 
recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the 
excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition 
date. 

 
2.5 Foreign currency 

 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which are also the Company’s 
and subsidiary functional currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional 
currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates 
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.  
 

2.6 Plant and equipment 
 
All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset 
as follows: 
 
Renovation - 3 - 10 years 
Furniture and fittings - 5 - 8 years 
Office equipment and kitchen equipment - 5 - 8 years 
Electrical Fittings, sound and light equipment - 5 - 6 years 
Computers - 3 years 
Artwork - 5 years 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (continued) 
 
(b) Business combinations (continued) 

 
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their 
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is 
recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other components of 
non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless 
another measurement basis is required by another FRS. 
 
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the 
business combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), 
and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if 
any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is 
recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the 
excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition 
date. 

 
2.5 Foreign currency 

 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which are also the Company’s 
and subsidiary functional currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of 
the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional 
currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates 
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary 
items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.  
 

2.6 Plant and equipment 
 
All items of plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 

 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset 
as follows: 
 
Renovation - 3 - 10 years 
Furniture and fittings - 5 - 8 years 
Office equipment and kitchen equipment - 5 - 8 years 
Electrical Fittings, sound and light equipment - 5 - 6 years 
Computers - 3 years 
Artwork - 5 years 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.6 Plant and equipment (continued) 

 
The carrying values of equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 
 
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-
end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 
 
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value 
less costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other 
assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that are previously 
revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income.  In this case the 
impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation. 
 
A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognised. If that’s the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increase to its 
recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such 
reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, 
in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  
 

2.8 Subsidiary 
 
A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee 
when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 
 
Investment in subsidiaries are accounted for cost less impairment losses.  
 

2.9 Joint venture 
 
The Group account for its investments in joint ventures using the equity method from the 
date on which it becomes a joint venture. 
 
On acquisition of the investment, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted as 
goodwill and is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of 
the investment is included as income in the determination of the entity’s share of the joint 
venture’s profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.9 Joint venture (continued) 

 
Under the equity method, the investment in joint ventures are carried in the statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the joint ventures. The profit or loss reflects the share of results of the operations of the joint 
ventures. Distributions received from joint ventures reduce the carrying amount of the 
investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other comprehensive income by 
the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other comprehensive 
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and joint 
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint ventures.  
 
When the Group’s share of losses in the joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the 
joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in joint ventures. The 
Group determines at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint 
venture and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss. 
 
The financial statements of the joint ventures are prepared as the same reporting date as the 
Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group. 
 

2.10 Financial instruments 
 
(a) Financial assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.  

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or 
loss.  

 
Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the trade 
receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.  

 
Subsequent measurement 

 
Investments in debt instruments 

 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets that are held for the collection of 
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, 
and through amortisation process. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.9 Joint venture (continued) 

 
Under the equity method, the investment in joint ventures are carried in the statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of 
the joint ventures. The profit or loss reflects the share of results of the operations of the joint 
ventures. Distributions received from joint ventures reduce the carrying amount of the 
investment. Where there has been a change recognised in other comprehensive income by 
the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of such changes in other comprehensive 
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and joint 
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint ventures.  
 
When the Group’s share of losses in the joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the 
joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to 
recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group’s investment in joint ventures. The 
Group determines at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence 
that the investment in the joint venture is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the joint 
venture and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss. 
 
The financial statements of the joint ventures are prepared as the same reporting date as the 
Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line 
with those of the Group. 
 

2.10 Financial instruments 
 
(a) Financial assets 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when the entity becomes party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.  

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in 
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs 
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or 
loss.  

 
Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party, if the trade 
receivables do not contain a significant financing component at initial recognition.  

 
Subsequent measurement 

 
Investments in debt instruments 

 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets that are held for the collection of 
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, 
and through amortisation process. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.10 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(a) Financial assets (continued) 
 

De-recognition 
 

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows 
from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received 
and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
(b) Financial liabilities 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
 
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial 
liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 
 
De-recognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit 
or loss. 

 
2.11 Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and financial guarantee contracts. 
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash 
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses 
that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). 
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  

 
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  
 
The impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. If in a subsequent 
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and does not include fixed 
deposits. These are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

2.13 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 

2.14 Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an 
asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is 
amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 
instalments. 
 
Government grants to meet the current period’s operating expenses are recognised as 
income in the financial period in which the operating expenses are incurred. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses 
that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). 
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  

 
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.  
 
The impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. If in a subsequent 
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand and does not include fixed 
deposits. These are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 

2.13 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 

2.14 Government grants 
 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an 
asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the balance sheet and is 
amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 
instalments. 
 
Government grants to meet the current period’s operating expenses are recognised as 
income in the financial period in which the operating expenses are incurred. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.15 Funds 

 
Funds are accounted on an accrual basis. 
 
Separate disclosures of the income and expenditure of these funds are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income, while the assets and liabilities of the funds are pooled 
with those of the general fund. 
 
Budding Artists Fund (BAF) 
 
BAF serves a two fold function in its advocacy of arts education: 
 
(a) To provide exposure of the arts to children from needy backgrounds who otherwise 

may not have the opportunity; and 
 
(b) To provide arts training to talented young children and youths to allow them to fulfil 

their artistic potential. 
 
Sing50 Fund 
 
Sing50 Fund aims to preserve and promote Singapore music through performances and 
educational activities. The Fund’s activities include that of documentation, presentation and 
content development for educational purposes. 
 

2.16 Employee benefits 
 
(a) Defined contribution plans 

 
The Group makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) scheme in 
Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined 
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related service is performed. 
 

(b) Employee leave entitlement 
 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are 
accrued to employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services 
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
 

2.17 Leases 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is 
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
 

2.18 Revenue 
 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.  
 
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a 
promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the 
good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.18 Revenue (continued) 
 
(a) Venue hire income 

 
Venue hire income is recognised over time as the customers simultaneously receive 
and consume the benefits of the Group’s performance throughout the venue hire 
period. 
 

(b) Management fee income 
 
Management fee income is recognised over time based on the provision of services 
to the customers. 
 

(c) Project income 
 
Project income is recognised over time based on output method measured by the 
project milestones as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the 
benefits of the Group’s performance. 
 

(d) Course fee income 
 
Course fee income is recognised over the duration of the course. 

 
(e) Café income 

 
Café income is recognised at a point in time when the service is rendered. 
 

2.19 Donations 
 

Donations are recognised on a receipt basis, except for those made for specified purposes, 
which are recognised to match the specified expenditure when incurred. 
 

2.20 Fund raising event income 
 

Fund raising event income is recognised when the fund raising event is completed. 
 

2.21 Taxes 
 
The Company has been registered as a charity under the Charities Act. According to Section 
13(1)(zm) of the Singapore Income Tax Act, the income of the Company will be exempted 
from tax. 
 

2.22 Contingencies 
 
A contingent liability is: 
 
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group; or 

 
(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 

 
(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation; or  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.18 Revenue (continued) 
 
(a) Venue hire income 

 
Venue hire income is recognised over time as the customers simultaneously receive 
and consume the benefits of the Group’s performance throughout the venue hire 
period. 
 

(b) Management fee income 
 
Management fee income is recognised over time based on the provision of services 
to the customers. 
 

(c) Project income 
 
Project income is recognised over time based on output method measured by the 
project milestones as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the 
benefits of the Group’s performance. 
 

(d) Course fee income 
 
Course fee income is recognised over the duration of the course. 

 
(e) Café income 

 
Café income is recognised at a point in time when the service is rendered. 
 

2.19 Donations 
 

Donations are recognised on a receipt basis, except for those made for specified purposes, 
which are recognised to match the specified expenditure when incurred. 
 

2.20 Fund raising event income 
 

Fund raising event income is recognised when the fund raising event is completed. 
 

2.21 Taxes 
 
The Company has been registered as a charity under the Charities Act. According to Section 
13(1)(zm) of the Singapore Income Tax Act, the income of the Company will be exempted 
from tax. 
 

2.22 Contingencies 
 
A contingent liability is: 
 
(a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group; or 

 
(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because: 

 
(i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation; or  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.22 Contingencies (continued) 

 
(ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will 
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group. 
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, 
except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present 
obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined. 
 
 

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates 
 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the 
end of reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in the future periods.  
 
Management is of the opinion that there is no significant judgement made in applying 
accounting policies and no estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. 
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4. Plant and equipment 

 Renovation 
Furniture 

and fittings 

Office 
equipment 
and kitchen 
equipment 

Electrical 
fittings, sound 

and light 
equipment Computers 

 
 

Work in 
progress Artwork Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Group         
         
Cost:                  
At 1 April 2017 2,903,714 220,068 219,585 2,017,986 54,892 – 3,000 5,419,245 
Additions 515,006 13,241 11,211 28,449 8,178 61,831 – 637,916 
Write off – – – – (4,050) – – (4,050) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 3,418,720 233,309 230,796 2,046,435 59,020 61,831 3,000 6,053,111 
Additions 315,425 73,580 18,802 72,101 97,550 – – 577,458 
Adjustment (28,000) – – – – – – (28,000) 
Reclassification 61,831 – – – – (61,831) – – 
Write off (1,800) (7,600) – (934,580) (6,979)  – (950,959) 
                -  At 31 March 2019 3,766,176 299,289 249,598 1,183,956 149,591 – 3,000 5,651,610 
                  
Accumulated depreciation:                  
At 1 April 2017 863,991 102,135 105,304 690,758 39,778 – 600 1,802,566 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 398,220 38,572 38,907 279,354 12,063 

– 
– 767,116 

Write off – – – – (2,594) – – (2,594) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 1,262,211 140,707 144,211 970,112 49,247 – 600 2,567,088 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 439,368 52,127 41,659 199,038 39,901 

– 
– 772,093 

Write off (760) (6,460) – (280,374) (6,433) – – (294,027) 
                  At 31 March 2019 1,700,819 186,374 185,870 888,776 82,715 – 600 3,045,154 
                  
Net carrying amount:                  
At 31 March 2019 2,065,357 112,915 63,728 295,180 66,876 – 2,400 2,606,456 
                  
At 31 March 2018 2,156,509 92,602 86,585 1,076,323 9,773 61,831 2,400 3,486,023 
v           
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4. Plant and equipment 

 Renovation 
Furniture 

and fittings 

Office 
equipment 
and kitchen 
equipment 

Electrical 
fittings, sound 

and light 
equipment Computers 

 
 

Work in 
progress Artwork Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Group         
         
Cost:                  
At 1 April 2017 2,903,714 220,068 219,585 2,017,986 54,892 – 3,000 5,419,245 
Additions 515,006 13,241 11,211 28,449 8,178 61,831 – 637,916 
Write off – – – – (4,050) – – (4,050) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 3,418,720 233,309 230,796 2,046,435 59,020 61,831 3,000 6,053,111 
Additions 315,425 73,580 18,802 72,101 97,550 – – 577,458 
Adjustment (28,000) – – – – – – (28,000) 
Reclassification 61,831 – – – – (61,831) – – 
Write off (1,800) (7,600) – (934,580) (6,979)  – (950,959) 
                -  At 31 March 2019 3,766,176 299,289 249,598 1,183,956 149,591 – 3,000 5,651,610 
                  
Accumulated depreciation:                  
At 1 April 2017 863,991 102,135 105,304 690,758 39,778 – 600 1,802,566 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 398,220 38,572 38,907 279,354 12,063 

– 
– 767,116 

Write off – – – – (2,594) – – (2,594) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 1,262,211 140,707 144,211 970,112 49,247 – 600 2,567,088 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 439,368 52,127 41,659 199,038 39,901 

– 
– 772,093 

Write off (760) (6,460) – (280,374) (6,433) – – (294,027) 
                  At 31 March 2019 1,700,819 186,374 185,870 888,776 82,715 – 600 3,045,154 
                  
Net carrying amount:                  
At 31 March 2019 2,065,357 112,915 63,728 295,180 66,876 – 2,400 2,606,456 
                  
At 31 March 2018 2,156,509 92,602 86,585 1,076,323 9,773 61,831 2,400 3,486,023 
v           
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4. Plant and equipment (continued) 

 Renovation 
Furniture 

and fittings 

Office 
equipment 
and kitchen 
equipment 

Electrical 
fittings, sound 

and light 
equipment Computers 

 
 

Work in 
progress Artwork Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Company         
         
Cost:                  
At 1 April 2017 2,903,714 219,288 219,585 2,017,986 50,917 – 3,000 5,414,490 
Additions 515,006 13,241 11,211 28,449 5,668 61,831 – 635,406 
Write off – – – – (3,097) – – (3,097) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 3,418,720 232,529 230,796 2,046,435 53,488 61,831 3,000 6,046,799 
Additions 315,425 73,580 18,802 72,101 93,737 – – 573,645 
Adjustment (28,000) – – – –  – (28,000) 
Reclassification 61,831 – – – – (61,831) – – 
Write off (1,800) (7,600) – (934,580) (4,556) – – (948,536) 
                  At 31 March 2019 3,766,176 298,509 249,598 1,183,956 142,669 – 3,000 5,643,908 
                  
Accumulated depreciation:                  
At 1 April 2017 863,989 101,823 105,304 690,758 36,325 – 600 1,798,799 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 398,220 38,416 38,907 279,354 10,417 

 
– – 765,314 

Write off – – – – (1,640) – – (1,640) 
                  At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 1,262,209 140,239 144,211 970,112 45,102 – 600 2,562,473 
Depreciation charge for the 
financial year 439,368 51,971 41,659 199,038 37,579 

 
– 

 
– 769,615 

Write off (760) (6,460) – (280,374) (4,556) – – (292,150) 
                  
At 31 March 2019 1,700,817 185,750 185,870 888,776 78,125 

 
– 600 3,039,938 

                  
Net carrying amount:                  
At 31 March 2019 2,065,359 112,759 63,728 295,180 64,544 – 2,400 2,603,970 
                  
At 31 March 2018 2,156,511 92,290 86,585 1,076,323 8,386 61,831 2,400 3,484,326 
v         
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4. Plant and equipment (continued) 
 
Included within additions of renovation for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 is 
provision for reinstatement of $81,980  (2018: $276,470). 
 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had 55 pianos loaned to schools 
under the Sing50 Fund’s Adopt-A-Piano programme which aimed to introduce Singapore 
music to all children and cultivate an appreciation and love of Singapore songs. The carrying 
amount of these pianos as at 31 March 2018 was S$654,206. During the financial year, the 
Company has gifted the pianos to the schools and written off the amount at net carrying 
amount of S$654,206. 
 
 

5. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
 Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 1 1 
   
 
 
On 18 April 2016, the Company incorporated a subsidiary, Millet Holdings Pte Ltd, an entity 
incorporated in Singapore and limited by shares. The primary activity of Millet Holdings is to 
act as an investment arm of the Company driving commercial deals and partnerships to pilot 
and innovate new business models for the arts and culture industries. 
 
As at 31 March 2019, Millet Holdings Pte Ltd has the following subsidiaries: 
 
Millet World Pte Ltd: Millet World Pte Ltd is incorporated on 8 February 2017. The principal 
activity of the subsidiary is to provide space management services both locally and oversea. 
The Company has commenced business activities in the year. 
 
Millet Capital Pte Ltd: Millet Capital Pte Ltd is incorporated on 8 February 2017. The principal 
activity is of business and management consultancy services. The Company has ceased its 
operations on 31 December 2018 and it is in the process of striking off. 
 
Millet World Trading Post Pte Ltd: Millet World Trading Post Pte Ltd is incorporated on 18 
May 2018. The principal activity is of specialised office support activities and event/concert 
organisers. The Company has ceased its operations on 31 December 2018 and it is in the 
process of striking off. 
 
As at 31 March 2019, Millet World Pte Ltd has the following subsidiary: 
 
Millet World Sdn Bhd: Millet World Sdn Bhd is incorporated on 14 December 2017. The 
principal activity of the subsidiary is to provide space management services. 
 
Millet World North Asia Pte Ltd: Millet World North Asia Pte Ltd is incorporated on 11 
September 2018. The principal activity of the subsidiary is to provide business and 
management consultancy services.  
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5. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

a. Composition of the Group 
 

Name of 
Company  

Principal 
activities  

Country of 
incorporation and 
place of business  

Effective equity held by the 
Group 

      2019  2018 
      %  % 
         
Held by the Company: 
Global Cultural 

Alliance Limited* 
 

Promoting 
Cultural 
Diplomacy  

Singapore 

 

100  100 

         
Millet Holdings Pte 

Ltd  
Investment 
Holding  

Singapore 
 

100  100 

         

Held through Millet Holdings Pte Ltd: 
Millet World Pte 

Ltd 
 

Space 
Management 
Service  

Singapore 

 

95  100 

         
Millet Capital Pte 

Ltd 

 

Business and 
management 
consultancy 
services  

Singapore 

 

95  100 

         
Millet World 

Trading Post Ltd 

 

Business and 
management 
consultancy  

Singapore 

 

100  – 

         
Held through Millet World Pte Ltd: 

Millet World Sdn 
Bhd 

 

Space 
Management 
Service  

Malaysia 

 

80  80 

Millet World North 
Asia Pte Ltd 

 

Business and 
management 
consultancy  

Hong Kong 

 

100  100 

 
* Global Cultural Alliance Limited is a company limited by guarantee.   

 
b. Interest in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (NCI) 
 
The Group has the following subsidiaries that have NCI that are material to the Group. 
 

Name of 
Subsidiary  

Principal 
activities  

Effective 
equity held by 

the Group  

Loss allocated to 
NCI during the 

reporting period  

 Accumulated NCI at 
the end of the 

reporting period 
    %  $  $ 
31 March 2019         
         
Millet World 

Pte Ltd 
 

Space     
Management 
Service  

95 

 

(16,255)  500,000 
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5. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

b. Interest in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (NCI) (continued) 
 

Name of 
Subsidiary  

Principal 
activities  

Effective 
equity held by 

the Group  

Loss allocated to 
NCI during the 

reporting period  

 Accumulated NCI at 
the end of the 

reporting period 
    %  $  $ 
31 March 2019         
         
Millet Capital 

Pte Ltd 
B
u
s
i
n
e
s
s 
a
n
d 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
c
o
n
s
u
l
t
a
n
c
y 
s
e
r
v
i
c
e
s 

Business and 
management 
consultancy 
services  

95 

 

(5,734)  250,000 

 
c. Summarised financial information about subsidiary with material NCI 
 
Summarised financial information but before intercompany eliminations of subsidiaries with 
material non-controlling interests are as follows:  
 
 Millet World Pte Ltd Millet Capital Pte Ltd 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
Summarised statement 
of financial position 

    

     
Current     
Assets 162,116 85,699 188,824 500 
Liabilities 217,264 209,449 67,136 3,714 
          Net current 

(liabilities)/assets 
 

(55,148) 
 

(123,750) 
 

121,688 
 

(3,214) 
     
          
Non-current     
Assets 2,804 4,060 – – 
          Net current 

(liabilities)/assets 
 

(52,344) 
 

(119,690) 
 

121,688 
 

(3,214) 
     
      
 Millet World Pte Ltd Millet Capital Pte Ltd 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
Summarised statement 
of comprehensive 
income 

    

     
Revenue 87,800 17,540 11,250 – 
Loss before income tax (432,654) (119,691) (125,099) (3,215) 
Income tax expense – – – – 
          Loss for the year, 

representing total 
comprehensive income 
for the year 

 
 
 

(432,654) 

 
 
 

(119,691) 

 
 
 

(125,099) 

 
 
 

(3,215) 
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6. Investment in joint venture 
 
The Group has 34% (2018: 34%) interest in the ownership and voting rights in a joint venture, 
Metaverse System Pte Ltd that is held through a subsidiary. This joint venture is incorporated 
in Singapore on 2 June 2017 and its principal activities is of other professional, scientific and 
technical activities N.E.C and development of software for interactive digital media. The 
Group jointly controls the venture with other partners under the contractual agreement and 
requires unanimous consent for all major decisions over the relevant activities. 
 
Summarised financial information in respect of Metaverse System Pte Ltd based on its FRS 
financial statements, and reconciliation with the carrying amount of the investment in the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
Summarised statement of financial position   
   
Prepayment – 499 
Trade and other receivables 8,250 – 
Cash and cash equivalents – 34,737 
      Total assets 8,250 35,236 
   
Trade and other payables 8,250 124,990 
      Net liabilities – (89,754) 
   
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 34% 34% 
      Group’s share of net liabilities – (30,516) 
   
Investment in joint venture – 3,400 
Share of loss in joint venture – (3,400)       
Carrying amount of the investment – – 
      
Summarised statement of comprehensive income   
   
Profit/(loss) for the year, representing total 

comprehensive income for the year 
 

89,754 
 

(99,754) 
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7. Trade and other receivables 
 
 Group  Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Trade receivables 96,038 157,340 95,188 99,388 
Deposits 248,300 276,427 242,691 276,127 
Amounts due from 

subsidiaries – – 902,519 910,439 
Loan to joint venture – 51,000 – – 
Sundry receivables 12,594 13,941 12,594 13,624           
Total trade and other 

receivables 356,932 498,708 1,252,992 1,299,578 
Add: Cash and bank 

balances (Note 8) 7,452,307 8,441,193 7,110,583 8,288,403           
Total financial assets carried 

at amortised cost 7,809,239 8,939,901 8,363,575 9,587,981      
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on immediate payment terms. 
They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on 
initial recognition. 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and loan to joint venture 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and loan to joint venture are unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
repayable upon demand and are to be settled in cash. The loan to joint venture was written 
off during the current financial year. 
 
Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 
The Group and the Company has trade receivables amounting to $150,551 and $98,599 as 
at 31 March 2018 that are past due at the end of the reporting period but not impaired. These 
receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the end of the reporting period 
is as follows: 
 
    Group   Company 
 2018 2018 
 $ $ 
   
 Trade receivables past due:   
 Less than 30 days 50,125 33,334 
 31 to 60 days 19,921 15,921 
 61 to 90 days 9,498 9,498 
 More than 91 days 71,007 39,846 
       150,551 98,599 
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7. Trade and other receivables (cont’d) 
 
Trade receivables that are impaired 
 
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the 
movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment is as follows: 
 

  
Group and 
Company 

  2018 
  $’000 

Movement in the allowance for impairment:   
   
At 1 April  – 
Charge for the year   725       
At 31 March  725        
   

Trade receivables determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to 
debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 
 
Expected credit loss 
 
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables are as follows: 
 

  
Group and 
Company 

  2019 
  $’000 
   

Movement in allowance accounts:   
At 1 April  725 
Charge for the year (Note 17)  7,554       
At 31 March  8,279    
 
The bad debts written off directly to profit or loss for the Group’s and Company’s trade 
receivables are as follows: 
 
 Individually impaired 
 Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Bad debts written off directly to profit or loss:   
  -  trade 4,610 1,690 
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7. Trade and other receivables 
 
 Group  Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Trade receivables 96,038 157,340 95,188 99,388 
Deposits 248,300 276,427 242,691 276,127 
Amounts due from 

subsidiaries – – 902,519 910,439 
Loan to joint venture – 51,000 – – 
Sundry receivables 12,594 13,941 12,594 13,624           
Total trade and other 

receivables 356,932 498,708 1,252,992 1,299,578 
Add: Cash and bank 

balances (Note 8) 7,452,307 8,441,193 7,110,583 8,288,403           
Total financial assets carried 

at amortised cost 7,809,239 8,939,901 8,363,575 9,587,981      
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on immediate payment terms. 
They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on 
initial recognition. 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and loan to joint venture 
 
Amounts due from subsidiaries and loan to joint venture are unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
repayable upon demand and are to be settled in cash. The loan to joint venture was written 
off during the current financial year. 
 
Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 
The Group and the Company has trade receivables amounting to $150,551 and $98,599 as 
at 31 March 2018 that are past due at the end of the reporting period but not impaired. These 
receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the end of the reporting period 
is as follows: 
 
    Group   Company 
 2018 2018 
 $ $ 
   
 Trade receivables past due:   
 Less than 30 days 50,125 33,334 
 31 to 60 days 19,921 15,921 
 61 to 90 days 9,498 9,498 
 More than 91 days 71,007 39,846 
       150,551 98,599 
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7. Trade and other receivables (cont’d) 
 
Trade receivables that are impaired 
 
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the 
movement of the allowance accounts used to record the impairment is as follows: 
 

  
Group and 
Company 

  2018 
  $’000 

Movement in the allowance for impairment:   
   
At 1 April  – 
Charge for the year   725       
At 31 March  725        
   

Trade receivables determined to be impaired at the end of the reporting period relate to 
debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements. 
 
Expected credit loss 
 
The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables are as follows: 
 

  
Group and 
Company 

  2019 
  $’000 
   

Movement in allowance accounts:   
At 1 April  725 
Charge for the year (Note 17)  7,554       
At 31 March  8,279    
 
The bad debts written off directly to profit or loss for the Group’s and Company’s trade 
receivables are as follows: 
 
 Individually impaired 
 Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Bad debts written off directly to profit or loss:   
  -  trade 4,610 1,690 
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8. Cash and bank balances 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following at the end of the financial year:  

 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Cash at banks and on hand 7,452,307 8,441,193 7,110,583 8,288,403 
Less: Fixed deposits (3,563,743) (5,823,121) (3,563,743) (5,823,121) 
          Cash and cash equivalents 3,888,564 2,618,072 3,546,840 2,465,282 
     

 
Fixed deposit earns interest at floating rate based on bank deposit rates varying from 0.76% 
to 1.68% (2018: 0.1% to 1.58%) per annum. Fixed deposits are made for varying periods of 
between one day and six months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the 
Group and the Company. 

 
 
9. Trade and other payables 

 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Trade payables 95,645 87,090 89,005 86,629 
Loan from director of a 
subsidiary 250,000 – – – 

GST payables 19,555 10,880 19,555 10,880 
Other payables 53,527 29,280 44,620 29,280 
Accrued operating expenses 680,921 600,326 527,296 549,628 
          Total trade and other payables 1,099,648 727,576 680,476 676,417 
Less: GST payable (19,555) (10,880) (19,555) (10,880) 
          Total financial liabilities at 
amortised cost 1,080,093 716,696 660,921 665,537 
     

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 days’ term.  
 
Loan from director of a subsidiary is non-interest bearing, unsecured and has no fixed term 
of repayment. 

 
 
10. Grants received in advance 

 
Grants received in advance relate to grants received from the Ministry of Culture, Community 
and Youth (MCCY) under the “Cultural Matching Fund” (CMF) for the international 
programme and capital expenditure for facilities development in the new centres.  As the 
international programme expenditure and capital expenditure has not been incurred as of the 
end of the reporting period, the amounts are recognised as grants received in advance. 
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11. Deferred capital grants 
 
 Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
At the beginning of the financial year 2,043,402 2,395,747 
Add: Deferred capital grants received 316,408 102,262 
Less: Amortisation of deferred capital grants (519,122) (454,607) 
   
   

At the end of the financial year 1,840,688 2,043,402 
   

   
Deferred capital grants - current 495,484 454,997 
Deferred capital grants - non-current 1,345,204 1,588,405 
   
   

 1,840,688 2,043,402 
   

 
 

12. Provision for reinstatement 
 
Provision for reinstatement of $429,990 (2018: $448,010) is the estimated cost of restoring 
leasehold improvements, which is capitalised and included in the cost of plant and 
equipment. The provision is expected to be utilised at the end of the lease terms of 3 to 10 
years.  
 
 

13. Donations 
 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Tax deductible 737,641 643,902 737,641 643,902 
Non-tax deductible 324,978 203,708 323,497 93,376 
          Total donations 1,062,619 847,610 1,061,138 737,278 
     

 
 
14. Fund raising event income 

 
  Group and Company 
   2019 2018 
   $ $ 
     
Tax deductible   1,223,936 1,185,228 
Non-tax deductible   190,785 80,900 
          Total fund raising event income   1,414,721 1,266,128 
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15. Other income 
 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Wages credit income  5,208 10,612 – 10,612 
Miscellaneous income 5,683 3,424 5,683 3,424 
Bank interest 48,543 56,880 48,543 56,880 
Café income 165,771 167,180 172,972 167,180 
Others 65,541 16,160 66,243 4,763 
           290,746 254,256 293,441 242,859 
   
 

 
16. Staff and related expenses 

 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     

Salaries, bonuses and other 
costs:     
       - Staff 1,684,320 1,404,319 1,319,187 1,084,735 
  - Directors and key   

management 887,441 872,894 764,912 767,839 
     

CPF contributions:     
       - Staff 320,029 240,672 261,536 186,640 
  - Directors and key  
 management 68,874 72,027 52,022 55,706 

           2,960,664 2,589,912 2,397,657 2,094,920 
     

 
Number of key management in remuneration bands are as follows: 
 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
$100,000 to $200,000 1 1 – 1 
$200,001 to $300,000 2 1 2 1 
$300,001 to $400,000 1 1 1 1 
           4 3 3 3 
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15. Other income 
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17. Other operating expenditure 
 
The following items have been included in other operating expenditure: 
   
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Bad debts written off (trade) 4,610 1,690 4,610 1,690 
Impairment loss in trade 

receivables  7,554 – 7,554 – 
Communication expenses 19,583 19,340 17,638 17,946 
Café expenses 245,276 284,507 245,276 284,507 
GST expense 69,455 53,768 69,455 53,768 
Professional fees 353,508 222,939 90,592 109,402 
Marketing and publicity 

expenses 62,413 260,744 62,293 137,174 
Plant and equipment written off 656,932 1,456 656,385 1,456 
Minor assets expensed off 25,082 6,594 24,840 6,594 
Staff welfare and development 60,617 23,231 21,089 23,231 
     

 
 
18. Government grants 

 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     
Cultural Matching Fund 565,816 1,264,210 494,245 1,010,792 
Other government grants 514,511 146,229 197,233 85,003 
           1,080,327 1,410,439 691,478 1,095,795 
   
 
Cultural Matching Fund (“CMF”) received are from Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth 
(“MCCY”). Other government grants relates to project funding from National Art Council 
(“NAC”). Contributions received are to be utilised for the operating needs of the Company. 
In the opinion of the directors, there are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached 
to these grants. 
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19. Income tax 
 
Major components of income tax expense 
 
The major components of income tax expense for the financial years ended 31 March are: 
 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Income tax expense recognised in the profit or loss 612 –    
 
Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit 
 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss multiplied by the 
applicable corporate tax rate for the financial years ended 31 March are as follows: 
 
 Group 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Loss before taxation (2,569,536) (1,112,852) 
   
   
Tax at statutory rate of 17% (2018: 17%) (436,821) (189,185) 
Non-deductible expenses 10,744 8,910 
Income not subject to taxation (1,462) (1,568) 
Deferred tax asset not recognised 115,999 20,348 
Loss of entities with tax exemption* 312,152 161,495 
      
 612 – 
   
 
* The Company and its subsidiary, Global Cultural Alliance Pte Ltd are exempted from tax 

in accordance with Section 13(1)(zm) of the Singapore Income Tax Act. 
 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has tax losses of $679,000 (2017: $119,694) 
that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the Group in which the losses 
arose, for which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of its recoverability. 
The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance 
with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the 
subsidiaries operate. 
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19. Income tax 
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20. Commitments 
 
(a) Capital commitments 

 
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised in the financial statements are as follows: 
 
 Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Capital commitments in respect of plant 

and equipment – 128,919 
   

 
(b) Operating lease commitments - as lessee 

 
The Group has entered into commercial leases on office building. These leases have 
an average tenure of ten years with no renewal option or contingent rent provision 
included in the contracts. 
 
Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense in profit or loss for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2019 amounted to $652,761 (2018: $641,592). 
 
Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as 
at 31 March are as follows: 
 
 Group and Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Not later than one year 944,470 496,129 
Later than one year but not later than 
 five years 2,112,864 1,162,943 
Later than five years 945,357 619,095 
       4,002,691 2,278,167 
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21. Related party transactions 
 
An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Company for the purpose of the 
financial statements if (i) it possesses the ability (directly or indirectly to control or exercise 
significant influence over the operating and financial decisions of the Company or vice versa); 
or (ii) it is subject to common control or common significant influence. 
 
In addition to related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the 
following significant related party transactions took place between the Company and related 
parties based on terms agreed between the parties: 
 
(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services 

 
 Company 
 2019 2018 
 $ $ 
   
Management fees received from 

subsidiary companies 350,166 170,975 
Management fees paid to subsidiary 

companies (50,000) – 
   

 
(b) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
     

Short-term employee 
benefits, representing 
total amounts paid to 
key management 
personnel of the 
Company 956,315 944,921 816,934 823,545 
      

Key management personnels sit on Board and remunerated as a staff. No Board members 
receive remuneration for its Board services. 

 
 
22. Fair values of financial instruments 

 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged or settled between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length 
transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. 
 
Management has determined that the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables, loan to joint venture, amount due from/(to) subsidiaries and trade and 
other payables, based on their notional amounts, reasonably approximate their fair values 
because these are mostly short-term in nature. 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
The Group and the Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the 
use of financial instruments. The Group's overall financial risk management programme 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of the Group. The key 
financial risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are liquidity risk and credit risk. 
 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The 
board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised 
below: 
 
(a) Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments 
should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other 
financial assets (including investment securities, cash and short-term deposits and 
derivatives), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively 
with high credit rating counterparties. 
 
Risk Management 
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses 
incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with 
recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In 
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that 
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  
 
The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis 
throughout each reporting period.  
 
The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:  
- There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower  
- A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event  
-  It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation  
- There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 

financial difficulty  
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial assets is the carrying 
amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the balance sheet as 
disclosed on Note 7. 
 
Risk Rating 
 
The Group uses the following categories of internal credit risk rating for financial 
assets which are subject to expected credit losses under the 3-stage general 
approach. These three categories reflect the respective credit risk and how the loss 
provision is determined for each of those categories. 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Risk Rating (continued) 
 

Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of 
expected credit loss 
provision 

Performing Customers have a low risk of default 
and a strong capacity to meet 
contractual cash flows. 

12-month expected credit 
losses 

Under-
performing 

Loans for which there is a significant 
increase in credit risk; as significant 
increase in credit risk is presumed if 
interest and/or principal repayments 
are 120 days past due. 

Lifetime expected credit 
losses 

Non-
performing 

Interest and/or principal repayments 
are 180 days past due. 

Lifetime expected credit 
losses 

 
Credit risk concentration profile 
 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. 
 
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy 
debtors with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents that 
are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable 
financial institutions. 
 
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 
 
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is 
disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s or the Company’s exposure to 
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations 
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
 
Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks and funding is obtained from 
government grants. 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Risk Rating (continued) 
 

Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of 
expected credit loss 
provision 

Performing Customers have a low risk of default 
and a strong capacity to meet 
contractual cash flows. 

12-month expected credit 
losses 

Under-
performing 

Loans for which there is a significant 
increase in credit risk; as significant 
increase in credit risk is presumed if 
interest and/or principal repayments 
are 120 days past due. 

Lifetime expected credit 
losses 

Non-
performing 

Interest and/or principal repayments 
are 180 days past due. 

Lifetime expected credit 
losses 

 
Credit risk concentration profile 
 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. 
 
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy 
debtors with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents that 
are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable 
financial institutions. 
 
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 
 
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is 
disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements. 
 

(b) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s or the Company’s exposure to 
liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 
The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations 
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
 
Surplus funds are placed with reputable banks and funding is obtained from 
government grants. 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 
 
The table below summaries the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial assets and liabilities at the end of reporting period based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations. 
 
 2019 

 
One year  

or less 
 $ 
  
Group  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 356,932 
Cash and bank balances 7,452,307 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 7,809,239 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities 1,080,093 
    
Total net undiscounted financial assets 6,729,146 
  
  
  
Company  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 1,252,992 
Cash and bank balances 7,110,583 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 8,363,575 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities 660,921 
    Total net undiscounted financial assets 7,702,654 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued) 
 
 2018 

 
One year  

or less 
 $ 
  
Group  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 498,708 
Cash and bank balances 8,441,193 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 8,939,901 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities (716,696) 
    
Total net undiscounted financial assets 8,223,205 
  
  
  
Company  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 1,299,578 
Cash and bank balances 8,288,403 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 9,587,981 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities (665,537) 
    Total net undiscounted financial assets 8,922,444 
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23. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (continued) 
 
 2018 

 
One year  

or less 
 $ 
  
Group  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 498,708 
Cash and bank balances 8,441,193 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 8,939,901 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities (716,696) 
    
Total net undiscounted financial assets 8,223,205 
  
  
  
Company  
  
Financial assets:  
  
Trade and other receivables 1,299,578 
Cash and bank balances 8,288,403 
    Total undiscounted financial assets 9,587,981 
  
  
Financial liabilities:  
  
Trade and other payables (excluding GST payables), 
  representing total undiscounted financial liabilities (665,537) 
    Total net undiscounted financial assets 8,922,444 
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24. Reserves policy 
 
 Group Company 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 $ $ $ $ 
Unrestricted Funds (Reserves)     
  - General Fund (1,078,844) (66,942) 689,164 711,949 
     
Restricted Funds (Reserves):     
       - Budding Artists Fund 5,873,436 6,645,039 5,878,476 6,645,039 
  - Sing50 1,096,000 1,858,813 1,096,000 1,858,813 
          
Total funds 5,890,592 8,436,910 7,663,640 9,215,801 
     
     
Ratio of reserves to annual 

operating expenditure 1:1.13 1:0.78 1:0.89 1:0.59 
     
 
The reserves that the Group have set aside provide financial stability and the means for the 
development of its principal activities. 
 
The board of directors regularly reviews the amount of reserves that are required to ensure 
that they are adequate to fulfil the Group’s continuing obligations. 
 
 

25. Authorisation of financial statements 
 
The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2019 were 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 17 October 2019. 
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